Public Document Pack

AGENDA
POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY PANEL
Date:

Wednesday, 6 October 2021

Time:

6.00 pm

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

Members:
Councillor

Mrs S M Bayford (Chairman)

Councillor

N J Walker (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors

Miss J Bull
M R Daniells
Miss T G Harper
Mrs C L A Hockley
G Kelly

Deputies:

Mrs L E Clubley
R H Price, JP

Page 1

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 8)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Policy and
Resources Scrutiny Panel meeting held on 28 June 2021.

3.

Chairman's Announcements

4.

Declarations of Interest and Disclosures of Advice or Direction
To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct and disclosures of advice or directions
received from Group Leaders or Political Groups, in accordance with the Council’s
Constitution.

5.

Deputations
To receive any deputations of which notice has been lodged.

6.

Medium Term Finance Strategy (Pages 9 - 16)

7.

Annual Review of Corporate Strategy (Pages 17 - 72)

8.

The Council's Approach to the Pandemic (Pages 73 - 88)

9.

Proposal for a New Way of Working (Pages 89 - 104)

10. Executive Business (Pages 105 - 106)
To consider any items of business dealt with by the Executive since the last meeting
of the Panel, that falls under the remit of the Policy and Resources Portfolio. This
will include any decisions taken by individual members during the same time period.
(1)

Capital & Treasury Management Outturn 2020/21 (Pages 107 - 108)

(2)

Complaints Policy and Unreasonable Complaint Behaviour Policy
Updates (Pages 109 - 112)

(3)

General Fund & Housing Revenue Account Outturn 2020/21 (Pages 113 114)

(4)

Welborne Garden Village Housing Infrastructure Grant (Pages 115 - 116)

11. Scrutiny Priorities
To provide an opportunity for Members to consider the scrutiny priorities for the
Policy and Resources Panel.

Page 2

P GRIMWOOD
Chief Executive Officer
Civic Offices
www.fareham.gov.uk
28 September 2021

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel:01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk

Page 3

Agenda Item 2

Minutes of the
Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 28 June 2021

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor

Mrs S M Bayford (Chairman)

Councillor

N J Walker (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

Miss J Bull, Mr M R Daniells, Miss T G Harper,
Mrs C L A Hockley and J G Kelly

Also
Present:

Councillor S D T Woodward, Executive Member for Policy and
Resources (Item 7)

Page 5

Policy
and
Scrutiny Panel

1.

Resources

28 June 2021

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies of absence.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel
meeting held on 2 March 2021, be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Chairman’s announcements made at this meeting.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTION
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations received at this meeting.

6.

CAPITAL & TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN 2020-21
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
capital & treasury management outturn for 2020/21.
At the request of the Chairman, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer gave the
Panel a brief explanation on the Council’s Commercial Investment Portfolio.
There were several questions regarding the impact of the Pandemic on the
investment portfolio. The Deputy Chief Executive Officer explained that there
is always a level of risk when investing in commercial properties, however he
reassured the Panel that the investments that the Council have made are low
risk.
RESOLVED that the Panel recommends to the Executive at its meeting in 5
July, that it endorses the recommendations as set out in the report.

7.

GENERAL FUND & HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN 2020-21
The Panel considered a report by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer on the
general fund and housing revenue account outturn for 2020/21.
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor S Woodward, Executive Member
for Policy and Resources, addressed the Committee on this item. He reminded
the Panel that whilst the level of government funding during the Pandemic has
enabled the Council not to have to use its reserves this year, the Council was
already facing financial pressure prior to Covid-19 and therefore any plans for
further income streams that the Council has considered or implemented will
need to continue in order to meet the on-going financial pressures that will be
placed on the Council for several years to come.
Page 6

Policy
and
Scrutiny Panel

Resources

28 June 2021

RESOLVED that the Panel recommends to the Executive, at its meeting on 5
July 2021, that it endorses the recommendations set out in the report.
8.

PRESENTATION ON ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS GRANT - WIDER
BUSINESS SUPPORT SCHEME
The Panel received a presentation by the Head of Finance and Audit on the
wider business support scheme, which is being implemented using an
allocation from the Additional Restrictions Grant funding. (A copy of this
presentation has been appended to these minutes).
Members asked questions of the Head of Finance and Audit mainly relating to
the monitoring of the take-up of the scheme compared to the grant funding
allocated and regarding the impact of the previous and newly proposed
training and guidance that is being offered to businesses. She confirmed that
the take up of the scheme will be monitored and data on the businesses being
helped will be collated. The support is intended to help businesses obtain
advice and skills to help them future proof themselves going forward.
Consideration is being given to some post payment assurance work to review
how businesses have felt the support has helped them.
RESOLVED that the Head of Finance and Audit be thanked for her informative
presentation.

9.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
The Panel considered the Executive items of business which fall under the
remit of the Policy and Resources Portfolio, including Executive Member
decisions and Officer delegated decisions, that have taken place since the last
meeting of the Panel on 2 March 2021.
The Panel considered the decisions at item 9 (1) to 9 (7) of the agenda.
RESOLVED that the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel considered the
following items of Executive Business.
(1)

CITIZENS OF HONOUR NOMINATIONS 2021

No comments were received.
(2)

FUTURE OF 42/44 WEST STREET, FAREHAM

No comments were received.
(3)

SOUTHAMPTON
AND
PARTNERSHIP REVIEW

No comments were received.
(4)

IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS

No comments were received.
Page 7

FAREHAM

LEGAL

SERVICES

Policy
and
Scrutiny Panel

(5)

Resources

28 June 2021

LEVELLING UP FUND

No comments were received.
(6)

ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS
SUPPORT SCHEME

GRANT

-

WIDER

BUSINESS

No comments were received.
(7)

WELCOME BACK FUND

No comments were received.
10.

SCRUTINY PRIORITIES
The Deputy Chief Executive Officer addressed the Panel on this item and
reminded members of the items that are already on the plan, especially those
scheduled for the next meeting.
He then invited Members to put forward any further items they would like to
scrutinise. Councillor Mrs Hockley requested an update later in the year on
how the business support schemes are working. The Deputy Chief Executive
Officer confirmed that this would be included in the scrutiny plan.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 7.08 pm).

Page 8

Agenda Item 6

Report to Policy and Resources
Scrutiny Panel
Date

6 October 2021

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY

SUMMARY
The Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel is asked to consider and review the MediumTerm Finance Strategy in respect of the coronavirus pandemic and the ongoing
implications. The Deputy Chief Executive Officer will refer any proposals or comments
of the Panel to the Executive meeting on 11 October 2021.
RECOMMENDATION

That any proposals or comments of the Panel be referred to the Executive at its
meeting on 11 October 2021.

Page 9

INTRODUCTION
1.

Full Council agreed the Medium-Term Finance Strategy in February. As part of the
recovery plan it became evident that the Council’s financial position would be affected as
measures were put in place to control the spread of the virus.

2.

In September 2020, the Executive agreed a Financial Recovery Plan which out the
approach to assessing the financial impact of the pandemic, together with the steps that
the Council would take to mitigate the risk and the actions necessary to recover over the
medium term. The first key action was to prepare an “Emergency” budget for that financial
year, and this was considered by the Executive at its meeting on 7th September 2020.

3.

In October 2020 the Executive received an update to the Medium-Term Finance Strategy
to determine the financial impact beyond the year as the pandemic was likely to last more
than one financial year.

4.

This report provides an update to that report with the impact on the council’s finances
continuing into the current financial year.
MEDIUM TERM FINANCE STRATEGY

5.

The Medium-Term Finance Strategy (MTFS) is usually presented to the Executive as part
of the budget setting process in January, prior to the Council Tax being set in the following
February.

6.

However, this is the second year where council finances have been affected due to the
COVID-19 pandemic and the effects will be felt financially throughout the whole of the
strategy period through to 2024/25.

7.

The review of the MTFS in September 2020 determined that the impact of the pandemic
on the Council’s finances would result in an increase in the overall General Fund budget
of £3.6million, when compared to the base budget for 2020/21. During the financial year
the council received £3.8million in COVID grants and support payments that meant that
an anticipated draw down from reserves was not required by the end of the year.

8.

During the 2021/22 financial year further government funding has been secured and this
is detailed in the table below:
SUPPORT TYPE

£

General COVID Grant – Tranche 5

£451,093

Loss of Income Reimbursed (Estimate)

£300,000

Homelessness/Rough Sleeper Funding

£374,591

Specific COVID Grants in Services

£170,672

Total Government Support

£1,296,356

Page 10

9.

The receipt of this funding means that the overall impact on council budgets show that
£1.966million would need to be taken from reserves in order to keep the budget balanced
during 2021/22.
MEDIUM TERM SPENDING PRESSURES

10. There are some services that have been affected by COVID and they will continue to be
affected during this financial year and possibly into the future as areas struggle to recover.
The five-year financial forecast also recognises that there continues to be a number of
spending pressures and new opportunities over the strategy period, which will have
implications for the council’s spending plans. Details of the main areas are covered in
the following paragraphs.
COVID-related Spending Pressures
11.

Town Centre Parking – During the lockdown period, the multi-storey car parks were
closed, and other car parks were not collecting income which resulted in £950,000 being
taken from the emergency budget. Since reopening, income levels have partly recovered,
but they remain significantly below the normal levels. In the current financial year, the
revenue from the parking service remains around £135,000 below the budget for the year
to date which is partly due to the length of time that restrictions were in place. It is
anticipated that with the continued restrictions on trading and the subsequent detrimental
impact on the vibrancy and vitality of high streets generally, town centre parking revenue
will not return to pre-COVID levels for a long time.

12.

Leisure Centres – At the August 2020 meeting of the Executive, a package was
approved to support the reopening of the two Leisure Centres in the borough. The
package of measures to support the continued availability of the leisure centres could
amount to £712,000 in the current financial year but there have been successful grant
bids that could see the amount paid to the leisure centre operator fall below £500,000. It
is anticipated that as a result of the agreement with operators that income will return to
the pre-pandemic levels in 2022/23 with a view to these levels increasing year on year
through the term of the agreement.

13.

Commercial and Investment Properties – Income from the Council’s commercial
property portfolio was suppressed, largely due to a loss of income from the shopping
centre and Market Quay sites. There continues to be alternative payment arrangements
agreed for some other commercial property tenants to assist with cash-flow and it is
anticipated that full rental income will ultimately be received. It does, however, remain
that some businesses will not return to their pre-pandemic levels of operation and
therefore the position will continue to be closely monitored.

14. Solent Airport and Daedalus – As with the commercial and investment properties
alternative arrangements have been made to secure the rental income being paid to the
council, yet also support local businesses located at Daedalus. There have been other
income reductions including lower fuel sales, reduction in licence fees and reduced fee
income when flying was suspended. This position is being monitored as services have
resumed at the site during 2021/22.
15. Bad Debt Provision – In light of the reasons given in the above two paragraphs there
has been an additional bad debt provision of £450,000 built into the strategy over a 2year period from 2021/22.

Page 11

16. This additional provision is also expected to provide cover for some loss of business rate
and council tax payments as businesses and households struggle to pay bills in light of
the continuing COVID situation.
Other Spending Pressures
17. Pay-related cost and Supplier cost inflation – The MTFS recognises that certain costs
will increase over the strategy period, for example due to contract inflation, pay increases
and more recently to reflect the announcement of the increase in National Insurance
contributions. The MTFS allows £390,000 per year to meet these obligations.
18. Planning Appeals – In recent years, there has been a notable increase in the number
and cost of planning appeals which impacts on the financial forecast. Due to the
unpredictable nature of the appeals, the MTFS does not make a specific provision for
these, but it is an area of concern and will be kept under review for the future, as the cost
of defending an appeal can be very significant. The last 3 financial years have seen total
costs of almost £750,000 and in the current year the costs have already exceeded
£150,000.
19. Hampshire County Council Waste Management Changes – The County Council has
written to district councils, setting out changes to the waste disposal arrangements. The
changes regarding the recovery of costs for material recycling are projected to cost the
Borough Council approximately £400,000 a year and will be effective from April 2023
onwards.
20. Fareham Live Operational Arrangements – On 30th September 2021, the Executive
received a report proposing that the project to remodel the Ferneham Hall is restarted,
after a period of pause due to the impact of COVID. The MTFS takes account of the
operational costs associated with the new venue when it is expected to open in 2023/24.
21. Osborn Road Multi-Storey Car Park Works – At the September 2020 meeting of the
Executive, the principle of modernising the Osborn Road multi-storey car park was
agreed. The MTFS takes account of the financing costs of the works and a further report
will be presented to the Executive once final costs are known.
22. ICT – The pandemic has seen changes in the way that people have been working with
less of a call on office space as more people have been working from home and this is
likely to continue going forward with a mixture of home and office working. All of this
reflects on the resilience of the ICT systems and additional expenditure will be needed to
protect council systems and information contained in those systems. All of these changes
will see an increase in costs and support.
23. External Audit Fees – Every year, the Council‘s financial accounts are reviewed by the
appointed External Auditor, EY. Due to the scope and nature of the work involved to
carry out the audit, there has been a steady increase in amount of work undertaken. The
managing body for local authority external audits have indicated the audit fees will
increase when appointments are renewed in 2022. This has been allowed for in the
MTFS forecast.
24. New Homes Bonus payments – The New Homes Bonus was introduced in April 2011,
as a way of incentivising local authorities to increased housing development in their area.
The scheme was scaled back in 2017 and is projected to reduce to nil over the strategy
period.
Page 12

OPPORTUNITIES
25. Although there are a number of spending pressures built into the strategy there are also
some opportunities that will offset some of the costs that will be incurred. The following
paragraphs cover some of the main areas.
26. Coastal Car Parking Income – At the meeting in September 2020 the Executive agreed
the implementation of parking charges in coastal car parks. Taking account of the
charging schedule and the potential need for some concessionary arrangements, it is
estimated that this will generate income of approximately £440,000 per year.
27. Garden Waste Income – In October 2020 the Executive received a report detailing
changes to the garden waste service which will see a move from the current system of
bag collection to a chargeable bin collection. The new system will see net additional
income of approximately £340,000 being received.
28. Solent Airport and Daedalus – At the September 2020 meeting of the Executive a report
was approved to continue with the development of commercial units at Faraday Business
Park. Once complete, the units will generate additional rental income from the site, and
this has been built into the strategy along with the revenue costs of financing the capital
works.
SUMMARY FINANCIAL POSITION
29. Taking account of the known spending pressures, the opportunities already being
pursued, and the other regular movements such as contract inflation, the following table
shows how the financial forecast is expected to change, in comparison to the approved
Strategy.
£s
Approved MTFS
Deficit Position
General Draw Down from
reserves
Revised MTFS Forecast
Deficit Position

2021/22
Revised

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25 2025/26

0

706,000

594,000

452,000

n/a

1,966,000

0

0

0

0

0 1,046,000

306,000

500,000 337,000

30. This forecast takes account of an allowance for housing growth in the Borough over the
next five years, and also takes account of council tax increase at £5 per year. A detailed
breakdown of the forecast is set out in Appendix A.
31. While the forecast takes account of significant known variables, there are a number of
other services areas, and corporate priorities, that will have further implications for the
forecast position. For example, the MTFS does not currently make provision for the
implications of the Climate Change Action Plan, or the requirement to transition to an
electric vehicle fleet. Other examples where the financial implications cannot be
quantified include planning appeal costs, unforeseen repair and maintenance costs to
community buildings, coastal defences, trees and open spaces, and the continued
economic impact of COVID on areas such as the high street and commercial property.
At this stage, the MTFS does not include a provision for these, but they will be kept under
review and steps will be taken to minimise the financial implications where possible.

Page 13

32. Finally, the Council has clear corporate priority actions to improve the borough and its
own operations, and where no budget has been provided in the MTFS to meet these
ambitions, each project will be considered on a case by case basis in the future, in the
context of the overall financial position.
CONCLUSIONS
33. This report sets out the Council’s Medium-Term Finance Strategy in light of the continuing
effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and shows the estimated position for the current year
and the next four years. The report and tables at Appendix A show that there is a major
impact on council finances, particularly in lost income but also in the costs of changes to
services.
34. With no indication that further government funding will be available beyond 2021/22, the
forecast indicates that approximately £2m will be drawn from reserves this year, and a
further £1m in 2022/23, to stabilise the budget while further measures to reduce costs or
generate additional income are explored over the course of the next financial year.

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Neil Wood. (Ext 4506)

Page 14

Appendix A
Forecasts for the next 5 Years
2021/22
Revised

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

000s

000s

000s

000s

000s

£45,270

£45,270

£45,550

£45,830

£46,110

Changes for Pay and Pensions

£175

£280

£280

£280

£280

Changes for Spend Pressures and Opportunities

£175

£360

£758

£1,087

£932

SERVICE EXPENDITURE
Gross Expenditure on Services
Base Budget

Changes for COVID Spend Pressures

£0

-£712

£0

£0

£0

£45,620

£45,198

£46,588

£47,197

£47,322

-£27,138

-£27,198

-£28,680

-£28,730

-£28,780

-£17

-£1,609

-£2,422

-£2,569

-£2,595

-£27,155

-£28,807

-£31,102

-£31,299

-£31,375

£18,465

£16,391

£15,486

£15,898

£15,947

Contribution to capital spend - RCCO

£1,475

£1,475

£1,475

£1,475

£1,475

Provision to repay borrowing (MRP)

£1,132

£1,399

£1,853

£1,907

£1,976

Revised Budget

Gross Income for Services
Base Budget
Changes for Income Pressures and Opportunities
Revised Budget

Net Cost of Services
NON-SERVICE SPECIFIC BUDGETS

Increase in Bad Debt Provision

£300

£150

£0

£0

£0

-£3,466

-£3,466

-£3,466

-£3,466

-£3,466

-£559

-£442

-£138

-£84

-£15

£17,906

£15,949

£15,348

£15,814

£15,932

Accounting Adjustments

Total Non-Service Budgets
NET BUDGET REQUIREMENT
SOURCES OF FUNDING
Core Funding
Revenue Support Grant
Retained Business Rates
New Homes Bonus
Total Core Funding

-£154

£0

£0

£0

£0

-£2,661

-£2,577

-£2,577

-£2,577

-£2,577

-£240

-£91

£0

£0

£0

-£3,055

-£2,668

-£2,577

-£2,577

-£2,577

Other Funding Sources
Income from Financial Investments

-£696

-£535

-£490

-£485

-£485

Income from Property Investments

-£3,439

-£3,439

-£3,439

-£3,439

-£3,439

Contributions from Partnerships

-£165

-£165

-£165

-£165

-£165

Contributions from Govt For COVID

-£751

£0

£0

£0

£0

-£5,051

-£4,139

-£4,094

-£4,089

-£4,089

Total Other Funding

Page 15

Use of Reserves
Ear marked for specific use

-£378

-£378

-£378

-£378

-£378

-£1,966

£0

£0

£0

£0

£7,456

£8,764

£8,299

£8,770

£8,888

£7,456

£0

£43

£94

£145

General Draw Down for COVID use

COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT
Council Tax
Projection of Retained Council Tax at current level
Additional Council Tax for new properties
Council Tax available at no increase

Projected shortfall with no increase
Council Tax available with £5 increase per year
Projected shortfall with £5 increase per year

Page 16

£0

£43

£51

£51

£51

£7,456

£43

£94

£145

£196

£0

-£8,721

-£8,205

-£8,625

-£8,692

£7,456

£7,718

£7,993

£8,270

£8,550

£0

-£1,046

-£306

-£500

-£337

Agenda Item 7

Report to Policy and Resources
Scrutiny Panel
Date

6 October 2021

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CORPORATE STRATEGY AND LOCAL
SERVICE AGREEMENTS 2020-2021

SUMMARY
At its meeting on 1 November 2021, the Executive will be considering a report on the Annual
Review of the Corporate Strategy 2017-2023 and Local Service Agreements 2020-2021.
The Council’s performance management framework requires the Executive to undertake an
annual review of the corporate vision and priorities. The purpose is to confirm future priorities
and to update the wording where necessary.
The Local Service Agreements provide an overview of how the Council is performing
alongside the Corporate Strategy and is an opportunity to consider how well the Council is
performing.
RECOMMENDATION
The Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel is invited to comment on the Annual Review of the
Corporate Strategy 2017-2023 and Local Service Agreements 2020-2021 Executive Report.
Appendices:

Annual Review of the Corporate Strategy 2017-2023 and Local
Service Agreements 2020-2021 Executive Report
Appendix A – Corporate Strategy 2017-2023
Appendix B – Local Service Agreements April 2020–March 2021

Enquiries:
For further information on this report, please contact Lindsey Ansell (Ext 4567).

Page 17

Report to the Executive for Decision
01 November 2021
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:
Report of:

Annual Review of the Corporate Strategy 2017-2023
and Local Service Agreements 2020-2021
Director of Leisure and Community

Corporate Priorities:

All Corporate Objectives Apply

Purpose:
The Council’s performance management framework requires the Executive to
undertake an annual review of the corporate vision and priorities. The purpose is to
confirm future priorities, update the wording where necessary and to provide an
overview of the Council’s performance for the 2020/21 financial year. The outcome
of the Corporate Strategy review will influence budgets and local service
agreements for the next financial year.

Executive summary:
The Corporate Strategy provides a clear focus on the most important issues that
need to be addressed for the 2017-2023 period. This annual review is an
opportunity to consider progress made in delivering corporate priorities and to
assess the impact of any other influences on the Council’s services and initiatives.
The Council’s strategic framework includes Local Service Agreements to provide
details of actions delivered by individual services. Local Service Agreements provide
an overview of how the Council is performing alongside the Corporate Strategy.
This annual review is an opportunity to consider how well the Council is, as a whole,
performing, as well as in key service areas.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
It is recommended that the Executive:
(a) Proposes to the Council the amendments to the strategy document, as
set out in paragraph 16 of this report, along with any other amendments
arising from the review, and;
(b) notes the Council’s performance for the 2020/21 financial year.

Page 19

Reason:
To meet the requirements of the Council’s performance management framework
and to provide details of Fareham Borough Council’s performance for the 2020/21
financial year.

Cost of proposals:
The financial implications of amending any of the Council’s priorities would need to
be calculated and reflected in the Council’s medium-term financial strategy.

Appendices:

A: Corporate Strategy 2017-2023
B: Local Service Agreements April 2020-March 2021

Background papers: None
Referent papers:

None

Page 20

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

01 November 2021

Subject:

Annual Review of the Corporate Strategy 2017-2023 and Local
Service Agreements 2020-2021

Briefing by:

Director of Leisure and Community

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION
1.

The Council’s performance management framework requires the Executive to
undertake an annual review of the corporate vision and priorities. The purpose is to
confirm future priorities and update the wording where necessary. The outcome of the
review will influence the budgets and local service agreements for the next financial
year.

2.

This is the fourth review of the Corporate Strategy 2017-23, which was adopted by the
Council on 14 December 2017. A copy of the current document is attached as
Appendix A.

3.

Any proposed changes to the wording will need to be approved by the Council, because
the Corporate Strategy falls within the Council’s policy framework under the
Constitution.

4.

The Council’s strategic framework includes Local Service Agreements to provide details
of the actions delivered by individual services. The Local Service Agreements provide
an overview of how the Council is performing alongside the Corporate Strategy. This
report is the eighth update since the Local Service Agreements were implemented in
2012 (Local Service Agreements review did not take place for the 2019-20 year, due to
the COVID-19 pandemic).

5.

A copy of the Local Service Agreements document updated with the details for the
2020/21 financial year is attached as Appendix B.
ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CORPORATE STRATEGY 2017-2023

6.

The Corporate Strategy sets out the Council’s priorities for the next few years, from
2017 to 2023, and shows how we have planned to ensure Fareham remains a
prosperous, safe and attractive place to live and work.

7.

The Strategy contains a number of Corporate Priorities for improvement. Progress on

Page 21

each priority is listed below:
Providing Housing Choices


Planning permission was granted in Spring 2020 to deliver a new sheltered
housing scheme at Station Road, Portchester. The scheme will comprise of
sixteen apartments and will be age restricted to those over 55 years of age.



Council approved the Publication Local Plan in October 2020, which was
followed by a six-week public consultation, held virtually for the first time as
Government restrictions prevented public meetings. This updated version of the
Local Plan had significantly fewer homes allocated across the Borough than
previous versions, following a reduction in the minimum number of homes that
Fareham was required to deliver.



Since the Local Plan consultation in November 2021, Government guidance
unfortunately changed again, and Fareham is now required to deliver 541 new
homes per year. A consultation on the Revised Publication Plan version of the
Local Plan was therefore scheduled to take place in Summer 2021.



In April of last year, and in accordance with Government guidelines, all known
rough sleepers in Fareham were moved into fully equipped self-catering
accommodation to keep them safe and socially distanced during the coronavirus
pandemic. Residents were asked to inform the Council of the whereabouts of
any rough sleepers not known to us, to enable them to also be accommodated.



Construction was completed on five new properties at Oak Tree Close, Park
Gate in Summer 2020. The two three-bedroom properties are being provided at
the most affordable Social Rent, with the remaining two-bedroom homes being
provided at an Affordable Rent.



In January 2021, a consultation was carried out on revisions to the planning
application for Welborne Garden Village. New proposals surrounding the funding
of the new ‘all-moves’ junction 10 of the M27 were considered, after funding by
the Solent Local Enterprise Partnership was reallocated to other projects, due to
time constraints. This new approach means that the developer, Buckland
Development Ltd, will contribute £40m to the new junction rather than £20m,
alongside an anticipated further £30m of government funding.



The development of eighteen one and two-bedroom flats at Rose Court, the
former Hampshire Rose site, was completed in Spring 2021, with all flats being
provided at Social Rent.

Protect and Enhance the Environment


Coastal Partners (previously the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership) had
previously developed outline design options as part of a study to reduce the risk
of flooding and erosion along the shoreline from Portchester to Paulsgrove. The
completed study identified that the scheme relied heavily on significant
contributions being provided by a private developer. Unfortunately, as a result of
this the planned coastal defence scheme is unlikely to progress in its current
form, until a mutually agreeable method for securing the contribution has been
identified. Both Fareham Borough Council and Portsmouth City Council remain
committed to trying to reduce flood and coastal erosion risk and will investigate
Page 22

alternative delivery options for the future.


In October 2020, the Executive considered a report setting out the results of the
carbon footprint calculation for the Council’s services. The Council’s total carbon
emissions for service delivery for 2019/20 was 3661.44 tCO2e, which was
calculated by gathering data from all of the Council’s services and includes litres
of fuel used by the Council’s vehicles and the amount of heating and electricity
used in its buildings.



A Climate Change Working Group is now in place and in June 2021, the
Executive agreed to adopt the Council’s Climate Change Action Plan, to enable
the Council to progress its commitment to carbon neutrality.



In early 2021, the Council launched a new Solar Together scheme to provide
cleaner, greener and more sustainable power for Fareham residents, working
with independent experts in group-buying schemes.



Coastal Partners, as part of Fareham Borough Council, secured £556,000 from
Defra Grant in Aid to commence a two-year study focusing on the future
management of Hook Lake, part of the Hook with Warsash Nature Reserve, and
opportunities to create new habitat at the site.



The new aviation themed play area at Daedalus Common was opened in
December 2020, together with an 18-space car park next to the play area. There
have, however, been some issues with flooding which has prevented the
surrounding open space being opened to the public and work is ongoing to
implement potential solutions.



Work progressed on the new public open space and play area at Abbey
Meadows.
Running adjacent to Southampton Road in Titchfield, Abbey
Meadows has around 20 hectares of land comprising footpaths, wildflower
meadows, dog-walking areas and educational wildlife areas and the new play
area, modelled on the nearby Titchfield Abbey, was officially opened in Summer
2021.



Fareham in Bloom was unable to go ahead in its usual form due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Instead, the competition took place virtually, with entrants being
judged solely on the photograph submitted. This proved to be very successful,
with around 100 entries submitted across the six various categories.

Strong, Safe, Inclusive and Healthy Communities


During 2020/21, the Council worked with local charitable organisations and
volunteers across the Borough in its response to the pandemic. This work
involved providing food parcels to those that needed them, collecting
prescriptions, and phoning those self-isolating for a friendly chat. We also
worked with Citizens Advice Fareham to provide support and advice to those
faced with financial worries as a result of the pandemic.



Whilst events planned to mark the 75th anniversary of Victory in Europe (VE) Day
in May 2020 had to be cancelled due to lockdown restrictions, the Council
encouraged residents to take part in the festivities at home by providing a Stay at
Home Street Party Pack which included a quiz, word search, war-time recipes, a
Spotify playlist and a bunting design competition. VE Day home schooling packs
Page 23

with lesson plans and supporting resources to help young people in the Borough
learn about VE Day were also provided.


The Council carried out a comprehensive review of its community safety
measures. The review resulted in the investment of thirteen high-quality CCTV
cameras to replace old equipment, with other rarely used or out of use cameras
being removed. These will be replaced with mobile CCTV camera systems that
can be deployed to deal with anti-social behaviour hot spots. The Council was
also able to recruit two additional permanent Enforcement Officers to tackle antisocial behaviour across the Borough.



In partnership with Hampshire County Council and the Department of Health and
Social Care, the Council delivered a successful COVID-19 rapid community
testing facility. This enabled those with no coronavirus symptoms who needed to
leave home for work and were not covered by an existing workplace testing
scheme to get tested regularly to help in preventing further spread of the virus.

Maintain and Extend Prosperity


Outline plans for a £5.5m refurbishment of the Osborn Road multi-storey car park
was agreed by the Council in September. The project will bring the building up to
modern standards, both in terms of its structural integrity and its appearance.
Drivers will also benefit from wider spaces and improved lighting.



The construction of four new dedicated business units are underway at Faraday
Business Park at Daedalus. Due for completion in Autumn 2021, the new
buildings will comprise more than 55,500 square feet of employment spaces.



A range of Government grant schemes became available for eligible businesses
feeling the financial strain of the pandemic. The Council worked hard to
encourage businesses to apply, process applications and allocate funds. Around
£56m was distributed in COVID-19 business grants and reliefs.



The Council received funding from the Reopening High Streets Safely and
Welcome Back Funds, which will be used to support the safe return to our high
street and coastal areas following the lifting of COVID restrictions.



As part of the Council’s plans to safely reopen the high streets, we commissioned
a fully funded programme of support for businesses within the Borough, which
included a variety of topics to help businesses survive and thrive following the
pandemic.

Leisure Opportunities for Health and Fun


With events being cancelled in light of COVID restrictions, we were unfortunately
unable to run our usual Christmas Lights switch on event. We still marked the
start of the festive season with the Mayor switching on the lights from home. The
Council also promoted local traders on our website with an online market.



In May 2020, the Council’s Planning Committee approved plans for a new
community arts and entertainment venue to replace Ferneham Hall. Later that
year, we ran a consultation for the public to vote for their favourite name, with the
new winning name of Fareham Live announced in October.

Page 24



The Fareham Live project was placed on hold and will be reviewed in light of the
pandemic. Pausing the project will enable the Council to understand any longterm financial implications as a result of the pandemic and, if necessary, revise
the business plan accordingly.



During Autumn 2020, the Council consulted on improvements to four more play
areas in the Borough, as part of the five-year plan of works.
These
improvements are anticipated to be completed during early Autumn 2021.



A new aviation themed inclusive play area at Daedalus Common was opened in
December 2020, in a small socially distanced event attended by the Mayor and
Mayoress and some pupils from a nearby school.



Work commenced on a £6.8m investment to improve the facilities at Fareham
Leisure Centre. The refurbishment will result in some exciting new features
including a climbing wall, soft play area, gym extension and improvements to the
café. Works are due to be completed in Autumn 2021.



The new public open space and play area at Abbey Meadows opened in
Summer 2021, with around 20 hectares of land comprising footpaths and
wildflower meadows.

A Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council


The Coronavirus pandemic has increased financial pressures and the Council
was left with a £1.14m shortfall, with an emergency mid-year budget being
approved in September 2020. This has placed great emphasis on the work of
the Opportunities Plan, looking at new ways to make savings and bring in
revenue.



In January, the Council held a `Balance the Books’ consultation, giving residents
the chance to have their say on how it pays for vital public services in light of
reduced government funding and the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic. The
survey asked questions about potential ideas for cost saving and income
generation.



A Parking Service review was previously undertaken and in September 2020 the
Executive approved a series of proposals to the Council’s parking service,
including upgrades to existing car parks. The Executive agreed to the
introduction of parking charges in all coastal car parks within the Borough. The
new parking machines should be in place for August 2021, with charges of £1
per hour between the hours of 10am and 6pm. There will also be the option to
purchase an £80 season ticket for use in all chargeable coastal car parks.



Plans for a new chargeable garden waste collection service were approved in
October 2020. The new opt-in scheme will start in February 2022 with residents
paying a one-off bin purchase charge and an annual subscription charge. To
encourage residents to subscribe, an early bird discount for a half-price bin will
be offered for a limited time. The Council will also work with Hampshire County
Council to further promote home composting of garden and food waste.



Fareham Community Lottery was launched early in the year, with the first draw
taking place in March 2021. The lottery was set up by One Community and
raises funds for local good causes such as charities and community groups.
Page 25

EXTERNAL IMPACTS
8.

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted on both the services and the finances of the
Council and work on some of the priorities contained within the Corporate Strategy will
have stalled during the pandemic.

9.

Since the beginning of the pandemic, the Council has had unforeseen costs with its
COVID-19 response whilst also seeing declines in income as a result of:


Lockdowns throughout the year has seen a decrease in car park income, due to
the temporary closure of non-essential shops, restaurants, and pubs



Demand for trade waste collections reduced



Concessionary payment terms for commercial property tenants



Suspension of market pitch fees



Treasury investment income affected by adverse cash flows and reduced interest
rates.

10. The pandemic left the Council with a £3.66m shortfall. Government grants and other
financial support was only expected to cover around two-thirds of that shortfall, leaving
the Council with a £1,143.700 deficit.
11. In September 2020, the Council’s Executive considered an emergency mid-year budget
to manage the predicted £1.14m shortfall.
12. A number of measures, including charges for both garden waste collection and parking
in the Borough’s coastal car parks are being implemented to bridge the funding gap for
future years.
ANY MATTERS ARISING FROM REVIEWS AND/OR INSPECTIONS
13. The mid-year figure published by the Office for National Statistics in June 2020
estimates the current population of Fareham to be 116,338 (results of the 2021 Census
are currently being analysed). Between 2017 and 2023 Fareham’s population is
projected to increase from 116,000 to 118,000.
14. The Annual Review letter from the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman set
out the number of complaints and enquiries received and decided during the financial
year 2020/21. During 2020/21 the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
received twelve complaints/enquiries and made decisions on ten of these. No
complaints were upheld against Fareham Borough Council in 2020/21. This meant that
there were no remedies that the Council needed to implement.
ANNUAL AUDIT
15. The Council’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, provide an annual Audit Results Report
which covers the Council’s accounts for the previous year. The Audit for the year ended
31 March 2021 has been postponed until October 2021, therefore we are not expecting
the Audit Results until much later in the year. The Annual Audit Letter and Governance
Report are being replaced with a new Annual Auditor’s Report which is not expected
until December 2021 at the earliest.
Page 26

16. The results of the audit for the previous year, ending 31 March 2020, showed that
Fareham Borough Council was found to have put in place proper arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CORPORATE STRATEGY DOCUMENT
17. Overall, the Corporate Strategy remains on track and it is proposed that the Executive
recommends that the Council approves the following minor changes to the current
Corporate Strategy document, attached as Appendix A:


Amend the `Reviewed date’ to December 2021, when Council has approved the
changes (front page).



Add a new paragraph to reflect the Council’s work with local businesses during
the COVID-19 pandemic to read:
o `We helped local businesses affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and
paid out £56 million in business grants and reliefs as part of a package of
measures announced by the Government. Our Environmental Health
team were also on hand to provide guidance to businesses to enable them
to operate safely’ (Open for Business, page 4).



Add a new paragraph to reflect the new business units at Faraday Business
Park, to read:
o `Four new business units are currently under construction at Faraday
Business Park and are due for completion in Autumn 2021’ (High Flying
Plans, page 5).



Amend the third paragraph to reflect the recent investment at Fareham Leisure
Centre to read:
o `We have invested significantly in facilities such as the multi-million pound
Holly Hill Leisure Centre which opened in 2016, with £6.8m recently
invested to improve facilities at Fareham Leisure Centre’ (Safe and
Healthy, page 6).



Update the number of play areas to 45 and also include the number of skate
parks and outdoor gyms in the Borough:
o `There are also 17 outdoor recreation sites, 45 children’s play areas (with
a new area at Abbey Meadows due for completion this year), 6 skate
parks and 5 outdoor gyms’ (Safe and Healthy, page 6).



Amend the third paragraph to include the name `Fareham Live’ to reflect the new
name of Ferneham Hall to read:
o `We have also produced a vision to remodel Ferneham Hall into Fareham
Live, a new arts and entertainment venue, with the building currently
closed for refurbishment’ (Safe and Healthy, page 6).



Replace the visitors to Westbury Manor jigsaw graphic with data relating to the
percentage of adults considered to be active:
o `66% of adults aged 16+ in Fareham are considered to be active (defined
Page 27

as doing at least 150 minutes of physical activity each week)’ (Safe and
Healthy, page 6).


Amend the first paragraph, to read:
o `More than 86% of homes are owner occupied, which is much higher than
the county and national averages’ (Home is Where the Heart is, page 7).



Amend the fourth paragraph to reflect the changes to Fareham In Bloom:
o `The COVID-19 pandemic meant that we couldn’t hold our annual
Fareham In Bloom competition in the normal way. We did, however, run it
as a successful virtual competition, where we received over 100 entries
across six categories’ (The Great Outdoors, page 8).



Add a new paragraph after the second one, to reflect the virtual exhibitions and
consultations that were carried out in the year:
o Whilst we have been unable to hold the usual CAT meetings with
residents during the COVID-19 pandemic, we successfully ran our first
virtual exhibitions for the Local Plan and Balancing the Books
consultations, ensuring our residents still had the opportunity to comment
on the things that matter to them’ (Tell us What Works and What Doesn’t,
page 9).



Amend the number of children’s play areas in the jigsaw graphic from 43 to 45
(It’s the Little Things that Matter, page 13).



Add the words `(Hill Head complete December 2017. Portchester proposal
currently on hold awaiting funding solution)’ to the fourth bullet point concerning
coastal defence schemes (Protect and Enhance the Environment, page 15).



Amend the wording of the final bullet point to reflect the fact that a climate
change action plan is now in place, to read:
o `Deliver and develop our Climate Change Action Plan to reduce the
Council’s carbon footprint and to mitigate and adapt to the impacts of
climate change in Fareham’ (Protect and Enhance the Environment, page
15).



Add the words `(Complete November 2020)’ to bullet point three to reflect the
completion of the community safety review (Strong, Safe, Inclusive and Healthy
Communities, page 16).



Add the words `(Complete January 2020)’ to the final bullet point regarding
delivery of the four sustainable measures supported as part of the Let’s Clear the
Air campaign (Strong, Safe, Inclusive and Healthy Communities, page 16).



Add a new bullet point to reflect the proposed works to the Osborn Road multistorey car park:
o `Implement much needed refurbishments to the Osborn Road multi-storey
car park, bringing the building to more modern standards, both in terms of
its structural integrity and customer experience’ (Maintain and Extend
Prosperity, page 17).
Page 28



Add a new bullet point to reflect the Reopening High Streets Safely and Welcome
Back funding:
o `Use funding from both the Reopening High Streets Safely and Welcome
Back Funds to support the safe return to our high street and coastal areas
following the lifting of COVID restrictions’ (Maintain and Extend Prosperity,
page 17).



Amend the wording of the final bullet point regarding the provision of A Level
courses to read:
o `Encourage a broader choice of Further Education provision in the
Borough, including T Levels’ (Maintain and Extend Prosperity, page 17).



Add the name Fareham Live to reflect the new name of Ferneham Hall, to read:
o `Transform Ferneham Hall into a news arts and entertainment venue,
Fareham Live, with a community focus’ (Leisure Opportunities for Health
and Fun, page 18).

18. After the report has been presented to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel and the
Executive, it will be presented to Council for adoption, including any additional
recommendations. The proposed changes to the Corporate Strategy document will be
clearly identifiable throughout the document when it is presented to Council for
approval. All proposed changes will be highlighted in the form of an asterisk in the top
right-hand corner of each page containing an amendment, with the amended wording
also being shaded.
LOCAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 2020-2021
19. The Council’s strategic framework includes Local Service Agreements to provide details
of the actions delivered by individual services. The Local Service Agreements provide
an overview of how the Council is performing alongside the Corporate Strategy.
20. Overall, performance across the indicators is comparable to previous years, although
there have been some significant changes in some areas:


The average time taken to complete a housing repair increased from 7.5 days to
9.05 days, as a direct result of limited in-house and contractor resources due to
the pandemic.



Visitors to our two leisure centres and Westbury Manor Museum have
decreased, as they were all closed for a large proportion of the year. In addition,
when they have been permitted to reopen, the numbers of people allowed entry
were restricted due to social distancing measures.



During 2020/21, the Council paid out 16 community grants worth £39,993, which
is around the same value as 2018/19, however an additional 6 grants were paid
this year.



Turnout at the Local Elections was 41% this year, 4% higher than the last local
election in 2018.

21. Appendix B shows a copy of the Local Service Agreements document updated with the
details for the 2020/21 financial year. The document contains simplified text and
Page 29

infographics to feel more engaging.
22. An additional section on the COVID-19 pandemic has also been included this year,
which includes details of some of the challenges we have faced as well as some key
achievements that were implemented in response to the pandemic.
23. A separate section has been added to each priority, highlighting any challenges that the
Council is currently faced with.
10/10 SURVEYS
24. It was agreed at a meeting of the Executive on 7 December 2015, that the 10/10
surveys would replace the then biennial Resident’s Survey as the main method for
measuring resident satisfaction.
25. The quarterly 10/10 customer service surveys enable individual service areas to collect
high quality feedback in a timely and less resource intensive way. The 10/10 surveys
have so far focused on customer facing service areas that have worked through a
systems thinking intervention.
26. The 10/10 survey approach involves Heads of Service/Intervention Leads telephoning a
random selection of customers and asking three questions regarding what good service
looks like, together with a rating from 1 to 10. Due to the increased workload and
pressures placed on services during the COVID-19 pandemic, 10/10 surveys have been
placed on hold temporarily. There is, therefore, no 10/10 survey data available for the
2020/21 year.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
27. Whilst there are no anticipated financial implications associated with the Local Service
Agreements, any cost implications of amending any of the Council’s priorities would
need to be calculated and reflected in the Council’s medium-term financial strategy.
28. An emergency mid-year budget was drawn up in September 2020 to manage a
predicted £1.14m shortfall as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

CONCLUSION
29. This report is a key stage in the Council’s performance management framework. The
Executive is invited to consider the proposed amendments to the Corporate Strategy
2017-2023 and recommend these changes to Council, so that the Council’s priorities
can be reflected in the budgets and local service agreements for the next financial year.
30. The Council’s performance across most Local Service Agreements is broadly
comparable or better than in previous years, with some of the measures being impacted
as a direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
31. The 10/10 surveys have been placed on hold temporarily, whilst services deal with the
additional workload and pressures associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. It is
anticipated that this will recommence towards the end of 2021.

Page 30

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Annette Rickman, Customer Service
Manager (Ext 4418).

Page 31

Appendix A

FAREHAM

a prosperous and
attractive place to be
CORPORATE STRATEGY
2017-2023
Reviewed
December 2020

Page 33

PLANNING FOR
FAREHAM’S

FUTURE
Prosperous,
safe, attractive...
Our corporate strategy for Fareham Borough
Council sets out our priorities for the next few
years, from 2017 to 2023, and shows how we
have planned to ensure that Fareham remains
a prosperous, safe and attractive place to live
and work.
Our approach has been led by a number of
factors. First and foremost, our residents,
customers, partners and others have told us what
is important to them. Our research has also
highlighted a range of external influences we
need to consider such as economic and social
factors and indeed changes to the way our
residents live and work.
One factor that cannot be ignored is the
continuing reduction in government funding
awarded to Fareham Borough Council.
2 |

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

Yet despite this reduction, as you will read, we
have exciting plans for the next few years that
will provide beneﬁts to many people working
and living within the Borough of Fareham.
By focusing on these we believe we can help
make sure that Fareham continues to be a
great place to live and work.

Page 34

“...FAREHAM
CONTINUES TO
BE A GREAT
PLACE TO LIVE
AND WORK.”

TO LI VE...
Located in an area of some 30 square miles
along the south coast of Hampshire between
Portsmouth and Southampton, Fareham is a
popular and attractive place to live. It is well
connected to the M27 motorway and has
good rail links to London and the wider rail
network. There is also easy access to ferry
ports and Southampton airport.

Fareham is growing. Our population has steadily
increased over the last 30 years and that trend is
expected to continue. People are living longer
and we have an increasingly ageing population.
For example, Fareham has experienced the
largest rise in the number of residents aged

“...THE MAKE-UP
OF FAREHAM’S
HOUSEHOLDS IS
CHANGING.”

2037: 130,000

2022: 120,000

2017: 117,000

2015: 114,799

2001: 107,977

FAREHAM’S POPULATION

A GREAT
PLACE

85+ in Hampshire during the last 20 years. By
contrast the number of people of working age
living in the Borough has reduced; particularly
those aged between 25 and 39.
Consistent with the rest of the country the
make-up of Fareham’s households is changing.
Around a quarter of people now choose to live
alone so that adds to the number of smaller
homes that we need. Additionally an increase in
divorce and break ups also means that there
are now more ‘blended families’ living together
than ever before. Minority ethnic groups make
up a small, but slowly growing, proportion of the
population.

Fareham has ﬁve distinct communities:
Fareham town; Portchester; Titchﬁeld;
Western Wards and Hill Head and
Stubbington. The development of Welborne,
made up of of around 6,000 homes, will create
a new distinct community whilst, at the same
time, help to meet our future housing needs.
Page 35

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 3

OPEN FOR

BUSINESS
With a well-educated workforce and low
levels of unemployment, Fareham is a
thriving place for business.

A well-educated
workforce makes
Fareham an attractive
proposition for local
businesses. The local talent
pool is rich with potential employees
equipped with all the skills they need to meet
their needs and, whilst Fareham salaries tend
to be higher than the national average, they
remain well below London-weighted salaries.
The proportion of Fareham residents educated
to college level and above is higher than both
the south east region and the country as a
whole. This is a boost to businesses both in
Fareham and its neighbouring cities.
Fareham is a hard-working Borough with the
percentage of local people in work higher than
both regional and national averages. By
contrast the number of residents claiming out of
work beneﬁts is low.
4 |

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

“...FAREHAM IS A
THRIVING PLACE
FOR BUSINESS.”

Page 36

HIGH FLYING

PLANS...
Solent Airport at Daedalus is owned by
Fareham Borough Council. Forming part of the
Solent Enterprise Zone, the site features two
new business parks: Faraday and Swordﬁsh.

“...AN UNFLINCHING
COMMITMENT TO
SUPPORTING AND
ENCOURAGING
BUSINESS
GROWTH...”

Underpinned by an unflinching commitment
to supporting and encouraging business
growth, Fareham Borough Council’s vision
for the award winning Solent Airport at
Daedalus has already begun to take shape.
The Council’s Fareham Innovation Centre
opened in 2015 as an incubation hub to
provide support and guidance to small and
start-up businesses. It reached 100%
occupancy within a year of opening.
A £7m extension was opened in 2018.

including: the
provision of new
commercial
buildings for
employment opportunities; additional
community facilities; improved airport
infrastructure; and expansion opportunities.

Over the coming years, the new
development at Welborne, which lies to the
north of Fareham, will also play a significant
The Daedalus Vision plan was reviewed in
role in creating jobs for the Borough.
2019, with plans for the next three to five years
Page 37

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 5

SAFE AND
HEALTHY
Fareham is a safe and healthy place to live
and work. Overall crime levels are low when
compared to similar Boroughs in the area.
Life expectancy is higher than the national
average for both men and women and our
residents are generally healthier than most
other areas in the country. Deprivation levels
across the Borough are generally very low, but
there are some small pockets of deprivation
within Fareham town.

centres, 27 football pitches, nine cricket
squares and two rugby pitches. There are also
17 outdoor recreation sites and 43 children’s
play areas. The Council also continues
to support a wide range of cultural and
entertainment activities including Westbury
Manor Museum. We have also produced a
vision to remodel Ferneham Hall into a new
arts and entertainment venue, with the
building currently closed for refurbishment.

Fareham is a great place to be healthy and has
a variety of sports and leisure facilities for
residents to enjoy. We have invested
signiﬁcantly in facilities such as the multi-million
pound Holly Hill Leisure Centre which opened in
2016. Within the Borough, residents beneﬁt
from two leisure centres, 17 community
Page 38
6 | Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

19,171
VISITORS TO
WESTURY MANOR
MUSEUM BETWEEN
APRIL 2019 AND
MARCH 2020

HOME

is where the

HEARTis...
Fareham residents are, on the whole,
well housed. Around 86% of homes
are now owner occupied, which is
much higher than the national average.
By contrast the proportion of social
and private rented housing is very low.
Despite an increase of 38% in property
prices between 2013 and 2018 for an
average home in Fareham, house prices
remain slightly lower than the Hampshire
average although they are higher than
some neighbouring authorities. First-time
buyers in Fareham struggle to get onto the
property market as the ratio between
average house prices and earnings is
higher than the level for most other areas
in south Hampshire.

“FIRST-TIME
BUYERS IN
FAREHAM
STRUGGLE TO
GET ONTO THE
PROPERTY
MARKET...”
Page 39

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 7

THE

GREAT

OUTDOORS...
With many acres of space
safeguarded for wildlife and miles
of natural coastline there are ample
opportunities for getting out and about
with or without the family.
The Council manages 331 acres of land
for nature conservation across 25 different
sites that include two nature reserves
(Holly Hill Woodland Park and Warsash
Common), and a Site of Special Scientiﬁc
Interest (Portchester Common).
Cultivated spaces are important too and
add quality to our everyday lives. Two open
spaces, the Sensory Garden in Fareham
Town Centre and Holly Hill Woodland Park,
have consistently been awarded the
prestigious Green Flag Award. A new open
space, Abbey Meadows is set to open in
2020 (open space opened in 2020 but
awaiting completion of play area in 2021).

In fact there are 13
conservation areas and
nearly 600 listed buildings
within the Borough, each offering a little
piece of history and helping to weave a
picture of Fareham across the ages.

Additionally, for 16 consecutive years
‘Fareham In Bloom’ work has been
recognised with a Gold Award in the South
and South East in Bloom awards,
brightening up our communities.
The great outdoors includes our streets
and buildings too and important historic
buildings are protected for future
generations.
8 |

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

Page 40

THERE ARE 13 CONSERVATION AREAS:
CAMS HALL
CATISFIELD
FAREHAM HIGH STREET
HOOK
OSBORN ROAD
PORTCHESTER, CASTLE STREET
SARISBURY GREEN
SWANWICK SHORE
TITCHFIELD
TITCHFIELD ABBEY
TOWN QUAY
WALLINGTON
WARSASH

Tell us what

WORKS
and what

DOESN’T
Listening to residents’ views is essential to
the way the Council works and helps us
deliver better services.
Community Action Team (CAT) meetings take
place where there is a local ‘hot topic’ of
interest to residents. There are also regular
YCAT meetings where young people can ask
questions and have their say.
Residents can have their say using an online
Customer Engagement Panel (the E-Panel) to
help customers better understand how we
work, have their say and increase openness
and transparency. They can also take part
in various consultations that take place
throughout the year.

Connect, in Fareham shopping centre, is also a
good place to check for information.
Sign up for the Council’s e-panel at:
www.fareham.gov.uk/epanel
Check out any current consultations at:
www.fareham.gov.uk/consultations

Social media is important too. Residents can
contact the Council directly on Facebook and
Twitter, both of which are used to keep
customers up-to-date with useful information
including details of any new consultations
taking place, public meetings or local events.
Our website contains all the Council’s latest
news and copies of the Council’s Online
Page 41
magazine ‘Fareham Today’ whilst Council

SIGN UP TO OUR
ONLINE CUSTOMER
ENGAGEMENT PANEL
(THE E-PANEL) AND JOIN
IN THE CONVERSATION
Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 9

OUR

VISION
Fareham is a prosperous, safe and
attractive place to live and work. This
has occurred through careful
management and development, as
well as constant attention to our
environment and the needs of our
communities. Our vision for
Fareham’s future is based upon the
assumption that residents want to
preserve all that is good about
Fareham, whilst increasing prosperity,
providing new homes for our growing
communities and making it an even
more inclusive and attractive place to
live and work.

10 |

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

Page 42

“FAREHAM IS A
PROSPEROUS,
SAFE AND
ATTRACTIVE
PLACE TO LIVE
AND WORK.”

OUR

VALUES
Everything we do is guided by a set
of values which are shared by all
elected members and employees.

OUR CORPORATE VALUES
Listening and being responsive to
our customers
Recognising and protecting the
identity of existing communities
Enhancing prosperity and
conserving all that is good
Being efﬁcient, effective and
providing value for money
Leading our communities and
achieving change for the better

Page 43

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 11

“LEISURE
OPPORTUNITIES
AVAILABLE FOR
RESIDENTS AND
VISITORS ALIKE...”

OUR

PRIORITIES
We will achieve our vision by focusing our efforts
and resources on six corporate priorities:

1 PROVIDING HOUSING CHOICES
by working with our key partners to
enable and support a diverse
housing market so that residents have access
to good quality housing that is affordable and
offers a choice of tenures. We will take positive
steps to prevent homelessness and assist
individuals and families in ﬁnding good quality
accommodation.
2 PROTECT AND ENHANCE
THE ENVIRONMENT
by ensuring that Fareham remains
a clean and attractive place to live and work.
We will make sure that our heritage and
natural environment are conserved and
enhanced for future generations. We will also
minimise the impact on the environment by
reducing our use of natural resources;
minimising the generation of waste and
maximising the collection of recyclable
materials.
3 STRONG, SAFE, INCLUSIVE
AND HEALTHY COMMUNITIES
by working with others to provide an
environment where people of all ages feel safe.
We will give people greater influence over the
decisions that affect their lives and build more
inclusive communities by providing easy access
to information and services provided by the
Council. We will also ensure that measures are
in place to protect the health and safety of
people who live, work or visit the Borough.

12 |

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

4 MAINTAIN AND EXTEND
PROSPERITY
by working with others to continue
to support and promote the economic vitality of
the Borough. Developing and improving vibrant
town and district centres offering a range of
shopping, leisure and employment
opportunities, together with the delivery of an
employment-led vision for Daedalus will be
vital to achieving this.
5 LEISURE OPPORTUNITIES
FOR HEALTH AND FUN
so that residents and visitors of
all ages can socialise with other members
of our communities; participate in arts and
entertainment activities; and improve their
ﬁtness and health.
6 DYNAMIC, PRUDENT AND
PROGRESSIVE COUNCIL
by making sure that the decisions we
make are transparent and that arrangements are
in place to secure on-going improvement. Our
overall priority is to ensure that we offer good
value for money by providing high quality services
and maintaining high levels of customer
satisfaction, whilst keeping council tax levels low
when compared to other district councils.

Page 44

“WE WILL GIVE
PEOPLE GREATER
INFLUENCE OVER THE
DECISIONS THAT
AFFECT THEIR
LIVES...”

It’s the LITTLE THINGS

THAT MATTER
Although it is the big projects that get the headlines, it is the
day to day work we carry out that takes up most of our time
and energy. It is also what the Fareham element of your

council tax pays for. We know how important it is to you that
we get the basics right and we work really hard to ensure that
PUBLIC
TOILETS
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS

working with
partners, eg police,
to keep you safe

land searches
when moving home

EMPTYING
YOUR BINS

every day services are run in a way that is cost effective,
efﬁcient and gives good value for money.

LOOKING AFTER
PARKS AND
OPEN SPACES

two leisure
centres

43 children’s
play areas

licensing eg taxis
and food hygiene

having
your say

nature
conservation and
listed buildings

support housing
development

entertainment at

FAREHAM LIVE

CLEARING
AWAY LITTER

pest control
and stray dogs

sports AND
recreational
facilities
keeping you informed

ensure building works
meet standards

community
events

helping to plan
road improvements

protecting
against flooding
CAR
PARKs

17 community
centres

community funding
and grants

repairs to
tenants’ homes

crematorium
and cemeteries

westbury
manor museum

help
to
create
jobs

Page 45

planning for
emergencies

providing
benefits
advice

mowing
the grass

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 13

PRIORITY one
Between now and 2023 we have big plans for
improvements all of which are driven by our
corporate priorities. You will able to keep an eye
on how we are doing as key milestones will be
included in our annual review.

PROVIDING
HOUSING
CHOICES

Ensuring everyone has somewhere to live is
a vital role for Council.
Working against the backdrop of a national
shortfall in housing and accommodation, we
have worked hard to develop key strategies that
will enable us to ensure there are housing
choices for people in Fareham. We will...
• Enable the delivery of a new Garden Village
at Welborne, providing thousands of new
homes, new jobs, new schools and new
leisure facilities.
• Prepare a new Local Plan, which
will plan for the provision
of new homes, and
employment space, across
the Borough up to 2037.
• Prepare and implement
a new Affordable Housing
Strategy, which will
determine the Council’s future
role in the provision of housing.
(Complete October 2019).

“ENSURING
EVERYONE HAS
SOMEWHERE
TO LIVE IS A
VITAL ROLE FOR
COUNCIL.”
Page 46
14 | Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

PRIORITY two
PROTECT AND
ENHANCE THE
ENVIRONMENT

The environment in which we live helps to
shape our experiences and the way we live
our lives. We want to make sure that the
things we enjoy today will still be around for
future generations.

“WE WANT TO
MAKE SURE
THAT THE
THINGS WE
ENJOY TODAY
WILL STILL BE
AROUND FOR
FUTURE
GENERATIONS.”

As well as protecting our assets, the next few
years will see some exciting developments
across the Borough. We will...
• Transform the ﬁelds and verges on the
boundary of Daedalus into Daedalus
Common, an exciting new area of
public open space for the local
community.
• Create Abbey Meadows, a new park in
Titchﬁeld, providing easy access to the
countryside for local people.
• Transform woodland areas at Coldeast
to create new public open spaces.
(Complete July 2017).
• Deliver major coastal defence schemes
at Portchester and Hill Head.
• Increase our recycling rates and reduce
the amount of household waste.
• Continue with our
'Give Plastic the Push'
campaign, aiming to reduce
the use of single use plastic
in the Borough.

two
• Develop an action plan to
mitigate and adapt
to impacts of climate
change in Fareham
and reduce our carbon
footprint.

Page 47

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 15

PRIORITY three
STRONG, SAFE
INCLUSIVE AND HEALTHY
COMMUNITIES

Feeling safe in
our homes and
everyday
activities is vital
for our
wellbeing and
peace of mind.
We also know it is
important to
local people that
we recognise and protect
the identity of existing and new
communities. This includes the
provision of local facilities. We will…

“PROMOTE AND
SUPPORT THE
DELIVERY OF
WELBORNE...”

• Promote and support the delivery
of a Garden Village at Welborne,
as part of a planned sustainable
new community to come forward
over the next 20 years.
•Create 400 new graves as an extension
to Holly Hill cemetery to increase the number
of burial plots available to residents of the
west of the Borough. (Complete June 2020).
• Review our approach to Community
Safety, including analysis of CCTV, street
lighting and landscaping to ensure that we
make the Borough as safe as possible.

16 |

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

• Deliver four sustainable measures supported as
part of the Council's 'Let's Clear the Air' campaign,
aimed at ensuring nitrogen dioxide levels across
PageFareham
48
do not exceed national guidelines.

PRIORITYfour
MAINTAIN AND
EXTEND PROSPERITY
We recognise that business
growth is essential to the
local economy, providing
good quality jobs for local
people and creating
attractive, vibrant town and
district centres.
As well as supporting
and protecting existing
businesses we want to attract
new employers to our Borough
providing opportunities for future
generations. We will…
• Commence the regeneration of
Fareham Town Centre, which will
include the provision of new homes,
improvements to retail, leisure and
entertainment facilities and changes to
parking provision.
• Construct a second phase extension to
our highly successful Innovation Centre at
Daedalus, offering ofﬁce and working space
to new businesses and creating new jobs
within the Borough. (Complete March 2018).

“A VIBRANT
SHOPPING
CENTRE IS AN
ASSET TO ANY
COMMUNITY...”

• Enable the redevelopment of Portchester District
Centre, which will include improvements to the
shopping precinct, the provision of new homes
and improvements to car parking facilities.
• Continue to implement our vision for Daedalus. We will build the necessary roads
and services to unlock new employment opportunities at Swordﬁsh Business Park,
building new hangars and facilities to support the development of the airport and
encourage employers to relocate and grow their businesses on the site.
•Support the construction of major highway schemes across the Borough to include
the Stubbington Bypass, improvements to the southern section of Newgate Lane and
a redesigned “all moves” Junction 10 on the M27. (Newgate Lane complete April 2018).
• Encourage the provision of more A Level courses within the Borough.
Page 49

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 17

PRIORITY ﬁve
LEISURE OPPORTUNITIES
FOR HEALTH AND FUN

Fareham is an attractive place to live and wellequipped with a whole host of leisure activities.
As a Council we are constantly seeking to
improve leisure facilities for residents and over
the coming years we will see some exciting
developments. We will...
• Transform Westbury Manor into a vibrant
“culture stop” in Fareham Town Centre.
(Complete July 2017).
• Transform Ferneham Hall into a new arts and
entertainment venue with a community focus.
• Provide new sports pitches and children’s
play area at Coldeast. (Complete July 2018).
• Provide a new allotment site in the
Stubbington area.
• Improve the facilities
at Cams Alders
Recreation
Ground to
meet the
needs of the
sports
clubs and
encourage
greater
participation by
the community.

“TRANSFORM
WESTBURY MANOR
MUSEUM INTO A
‘CULTURE STOP’...”
18 | Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

Page 50

PRIORITYsix
A DYNAMIC, PRUDENT
AND PROGRESSIVE
COUNCIL

We are
constantly
seeking ways to
reduce our spending
and make your money
work harder so that we
can continue to deliver
good services. We will…
• Continue to work within a
balanced and sustainable
budget, recognising the
reduction in Government
funding.
• Continue to implement systems
thinking* across all Council
services to ensure a customer
focused approach and the quick
resolution of problems.
• Develop the Civic Ofﬁces to be an
attractive working environment for
existing and prospective tenants.
• Undertake a major review of all Council
owned land and buildings to ensure
that we are making the best use of our
assets.
• Be alive to new opportunities for further
investment in commercial properties to
boost income and help meet corporate
priorities.

six

• Continue to explore opportunities for
shared services, partnerships and joint
working with neighbouring Councils.
• Deliver a programme of work under the
Opportunities Plan, to enable the Council to
generate additional revenue, reduce costs and
respond to service pressures and opportunities.
Page 51
*Systems thinking helps to design Council services so that the needs
of the customer are met in the simplest and most efﬁcient way.

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

| 19

Strategic

FRAMEWORK

Our strategic framework is made up of key ﬁnancial
and planning documents that help shape the work of
the Council.
CORPORATE STRATEGY sets out our vision and
priorities for the medium-term (i.e. ﬁve years). It also
includes a set of improvement actions that describe
the key projects and initiatives that we will focus on
over this period.
LOCAL PLAN sets out the policies that will
determine future land use to meet the needs of the
corporate strategy.
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND
ANNUAL BUDGET addresses the ﬁnancial
implications of all the Council’s strategies and plans.

The corporate strategy and
other strategies and plans are
supported by local service
agreements, which include a
range of measures that
demonstrate the general
performance and degree of
success of the Council.
Email your comments to
consultation@fareham.gov.uk

20 |

Fareham Corporate Strategy 2017-2023

Page 52

Appendix B

Local Service Agreements
How are we doing?
Performance from
April 2020 to March 2021

Local Service Agreements
How are we doing?
Performance from
April 2020 to March 2021

Page 53

Introduction
This document gives an overview of how the Council is performing and provides more detail
about the Council’s Vision and Priorities as set out in the Corporate Strategy 2017-23.

What are the priorities?
•

To Provide Housing Choices

•

To Protect and Enhance the Environment

•

To build Strong, Safe, Inclusive and Healthy Communities

•

To Maintain and Extend Prosperity

•

To provide a range of Leisure Opportunities for Health and Fun

•

To be a Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council

What are Local Service Agreements?
Each priority has a number of measurements that allow the Council to monitor how well it is
performing from year-to-year. These are known as Local Service Agreements and they allow the
Council to be open and transparent, by making its performance available to the residents of the
Borough.
The Council also carries out 10/10 surveys in a number of service areas. Every quarter,
randomly selected customers are asked to score the service they received out of ten. They are
also asked how we could improve the service. 10/10 surveys were suspended during 2020/21
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, therefore the results of these are not available in this document.


Page 54

COVID-19 PANDEMIC
How has the pandemic affected our Local Service Agreements?
The pandemic has had an impact on some of our Local Service Agreements measures, although
overall performance is comparable to previous years. Some service areas have seen an
increase in the time taken to complete service requests, as resource levels have seen a drop due
to employees self-isolating. We also deployed some of our employees to other work areas
where the need has arisen.
Other indicators that have been affected are those regarding visitors to our two leisure centres
and Westbury Manor Museum, all of which were closed for a large proportion of the year, with a
significant drop in the numbers of people permitted entry when they have been able to reopen.
We have seen a reduction in the number of taxi and private hire vehicles licensed, as some
drivers have not renewed their vehicle licences during such uncertain times and we have also
seen a reduction in the amount of environmental inspections that were carried out by our
Officers due to food and licensed premises being closed for much of the year.
As the 10/10 surveys were suspended during 2020/21, we have instead included infographics
within this document detailing key achievements over the last year.

How have we reacted to the pandemic?
•

COVID-19 has resulted in one of the largest Business Continuity Incidents the Council has
ever faced and we have worked hard to continue to provide our services in very difficult
circumstances.

•

We worked with local charities and voluntary organisations to provide vital food supplies for
those in need, as well as working with Citizens Advice Fareham to provide support to
residents who found themselves needing help as a result of the pandemic.

•

We administered a large number of grants schemes to assist businesses who were
impacted by the restrictions arising from the pandemic and introduced a grants helpline
allowing businesses to discuss their eligibility for the various schemes. We also introduced
a business e-newsletter to communicate with local businesses about the pandemic.

•

The Council’s COVID-19 response left the Council with unforeseen costs and also saw a
decline in income from services including car parks and trade waste collections. This
resulted in an emergency mid-year budget, with £1.14 million used from the General Fund
Revenue Reserve to manage the 2020/21 shortfall.

•

We suspended Community Action Team meetings and instead moved to virtual exhibitions.

•

We maintained appropriate decision making arrangements by utilising emergency powers
available in the Coronavirus Act. We were then able to resume usual decision making
capability via virtual meetings, which included live streaming for the public.

Page 55

Page 56

Providing Housing Choices
What is this priority about?
We will work with our partners to enable and support a diverse housing market so that residents
have access to good quality housing that is affordable and offers a choice of tenures. We will
take positive steps to prevent homelessness and assist individuals and families in finding good
quality accommodation.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to achieve by 2023 are to:
•

Enable the delivery of Welborne Garden village, providing thousands of new homes, new
jobs, new schools and new leisure facilities;

•

Prepare a new Local Plan, which will plan for the provision of new homes, and employment
space across the Borough up to 2037;

•

Prepare and implement a new Housing Strategy to include affordable options (Complete
October 2019).

What else are we doing?
Supporting and enabling an affordable housing market
•

Providing more affordable homes, ensuring they are the right homes, in the right places, for
those in need of affordable housing.

•

Enabling access to rented homes for people on low incomes and people who are homeless
or vulnerable.

•

Ensuring that there is enough land for housing development across the Borough.

•

Ensuring that all sectors of the community are able to be housed appropriately.

•

Working with landlords to maintain housing standards.

•

Offering advice and grants to help reduce energy costs.

•

Providing home safety and security checks.

•

Providing grants to adapt homes to enable people with disabilities to live independently.

Preventing homelessness
•

Providing advice and assistance to prevent homelessness.

•

Ensuring that good temporary accommodation is available for homeless people in priority
need.

•

Working with Fareham Street Aid partners to help those sleeping rough in the Borough and
to help vulnerable people off the streets.
Page 57

Providing access to affordable housing
•

Providing affordable homes for people in housing need.

•

Providing a support and advice service to the Council's tenants.

•

Repairing and improving the Council's housing.

•

Increasing the number of new affordable homes delivered by Fareham Borough Council,
including projects to regenerate and improve existing housing stock.

•

Consulting and involving the Council's tenants in the way the service is delivered.

Maintaining the Borough's rented housing stock
•

Assessing local housing conditions.

•

Providing advice on the legal standards for rented housing.

•

Improving standards of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs).

•

Reducing the level of hazards under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System.

•

Helping to ensure homes become greener and more energy efficient, to include `green’
improvements to some Council owned homes.

•

Bringing empty properties back into use.

•

Reducing the number of vulnerable households living in sub-standard homes.

•

Working closely with private sector landlords to improve housing conditions and standards
of management and maintenance.

Challenges
•

Changes to future national planning policy.

•

Sufficient funding to enable the delivery of more Council owned homes and to improve
existing Council owned homes.

•

Securing appropriate affordable housing through the planning system.

Page 58


Page 59

Protect and Enhance the Environment
What is this priority about?
We will make sure that our heritage and natural environment are conserved and enhanced for
future generations. We will also minimise the impact on the environment by reducing our use of
natural resources; maximising the collection of recyclable materials.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to achieve by 2023 are to:
•

Transform fields and woodland across the borough to create exciting new areas of public
open space;

•

Deliver major coastal defence schemes at Portchester and Hill Head (Hill Head complete
2017, Portchester proposal currently on hold awaiting funding solution);

•

Appraised potential coastal management options to create a new intertidal habitat at Hook
Lake, Warsash;

•

Appraised coastal erosion and flood defence options at Salterns Recreation Ground and the
coastline between Cador Drive and Alton Grove;

•

Reduce the quantity of household waste and maximise the amount that is reused or
recycled.

What else are we doing?
Planning the future shape of the Borough
•

Preparing plans that guide the future use and development of land within the Borough.

Ensuring high quality development
•

Providing planning advice to applicants seeking to undertake development in the Borough.

•

Ensuring planning applications meet the Council's policies.

Conserving and improving public spaces
•

Protecting historic buildings and areas, trees and wildlife areas.

•

Undertaking environmental improvements in public spaces.

Managing the coast and responding to climate change
•

Keeping the beaches clean.

•

Looking after coastal erosion and flood defences.
Page 60

•

Developing an action plan to mitigate and adapt to impacts of climate change in Fareham
and reduce our carbon footprint.

•

Continuing with our Give Plastic the Push campaign, to reduce the use of Single Use Plastic
in the Borough.

•

Helping residents to improve home energy efficiency.

Enabling easy access to well managed public and open spaces
•

Providing and maintaining parks, open spaces, woodlands and allotments for your
enjoyment.

•

Mowing the grass.

Improving local air quality and ensuring land is free from contamination
•

Improving air quality through the local air quality action plan.

•

Continuously monitoring air quality.

•

Investigating land for contamination.

•

Ensuring local businesses do not pollute the environment.

Keeping streets and open spaces clean and tidy
•

Cleaning the streets.

•

Providing litter bins.

•

Removing abandoned vehicles.

•

Using a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) to tackle irresponsible dog ownership.

•

Fining people for littering, dog fouling and fly tipping.

•

Providing clean toilets for public use.

•

Removing graffiti.

Providing a sympathetic and caring burial service
•

Maintaining cemeteries.

•

Arranging burials and working in partnership to run Portchester Crematorium.

Collecting waste
•

Collecting household waste for incineration, as well as garden waste, health care waste and
recyclable materials.

•

Providing assisted collections for households in need.

•

Providing chargeable collections for bulky household waste, trade waste and commercial
recycling.

Challenges
•

Securing sufficient funding to ensure we can continue to look after coastal erosion and flood
defences and to implement policies to manage the potential impacts of climate change to
coastal areas, including rising sea levels.

•

Ensuring there is sufficient uptake from drivers to upgrade their older taxis, having secured
£300,000 as an incentive.

•

Cleaning up of identified contaminated land, as there is always a significant cost involved.

•

Hampshire County Council’s proposal to charge for contamination in recycling collections
and to withdraw payments for the sale of recyclates will impact on our capacity to reduce
the quantity of household waste and maximise the amount that is reused or recycled.

•

Finalising a nitrate mitigation strategy and preparing a bird mitigation strategy.
Page 61

Page 62

Strong, Safe, Inclusive and Healthy
Communities
What is this priority about?
We will work with others to continue to provide an environment where people of all ages feel
safe. We will give people greater influence and power over the decisions that affect their lives
and build more inclusive communities by providing easy access to information and services
provided by the Council. We will also ensure that measures are in place to protect the health
and safety of people who live, work or visit the Borough.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to achieve by 2023 are to:
•

Promote and support the delivery of a Garden Village at Welborne, as part of a planned
sustainable new community to come forward over the next 20 years;

•

Create 400 new graves as an extension to Holly Hill cemetery to increase the number of
burial plots available to residents of the west of the Borough (Complete June 2020);

•

Review our approach to Community Safety, including analysis of CCTV, street lighting and
landscaping to ensure that we make the Borough as safe as possible;

•

Deliver four sustainable measures supported as part of the Council’s `Let’s Clear the Air’
campaign, aimed at ensuring nitrogen dioxide levels across Fareham do not exceed
national guidelines.

What else are we doing?
Reducing crime and disorder
•

Providing CCTV coverage across the Borough in partnership with Gosport Borough
Council.

•

Providing community lighting for the safety of pedestrians on the public highway, parks
and open spaces.

Protecting the health and safety of people
•

Controlling pests and preventing the spread of infectious diseases.

•

Collecting stray dogs and encouraging responsible dog ownership.

•

Controlling the pollution of air, land and water.

•

Ensuring businesses comply with food safety and health and safety legislation.

•

Licensing and checking of premises, vehicles and people to ensure activities are
undertaken and provided safely.

•

Using powers to ensure residents live in satisfactory housing conditions.

•

Ensuring public safety and protecting the community against the consequences of major
incidents.

•

Providing an emergency out-of-hours service.

•

Protecting public health and preventing nuisance.

Managing highways, traffic and parking
•

Assisting Hampshire County Council to manage traffic and keep the highways safe.

•

Managing car parks and residents' parking schemes, and taking action against parking
offences.

Page 63

Promoting good health
•
Working with Fareham and Gosport Clinical Commissioning Group to improve access to
health facilities.
Ensuring new and existing buildings are safe
•
Ensuring building works comply with building regulations and safety standards.
•
Providing residents with pre-application advice on construction related projects.
•
Providing a 24 hour emergency response service for unsafe buildings.
•
Ensuring the safe demolition of buildings.
Building stronger communities
•
Providing opportunities for local people to get involved in their neighbourhoods.
•
Ensuring customers can make their views known to the Council.

Building inclusive communities
•
Making sure all customers can access the Council's services.
Enabling people to play an active part in society
•
Helping vulnerable or disadvantaged people to become involved in community activities and
use community facilities.
•
Planning and providing community and leisure facilities.
•
Providing grants to voluntary organisations.
•
Ensuring that people who are eligible to vote are registered to vote.
Paying housing and Council Tax Support
•
Providing a housing benefit and council tax benefits service.
•
Investigating all allegations of benefit fraud.

Challenges
•
•
•

The ongoing roll out of Universal Credit will affect the delivery of Housing Benefit Service
and the way in which Council Tax Support is administered.
The Local Council Tax Support scheme requires a radical redesign as the Universal Credit
roll out accelerates, moving towards a less means-tested scheme.
Potential changes to the guidance for food safety inspections may impact resource levels.

Page 64

Page 65

Maintain and Extend Prosperity
What is this priority about?
We will work with others to continue to support and promote the economic vitality of the Borough.
Developing and improving vibrant town and district centres offering a range of shopping, leisure
and employment opportunities, together with the delivery of an employment-led vision for
Daedalus will be vital to achieving this.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to achieve by 2023 are to:
•
Create attractive, vibrant town and district centres, providing new homes, and
improvements to retail, leisure, entertainment and parking facilities;
•
Continue to implement our vision for Daedalus by supporting the development of the airport
and encouraging employers to relocate and grow their businesses on the site;
•
Support the construction of major new highway schemes across the Borough.

What else are we doing?
Enabling employment opportunities
•
Securing an adequate supply of land for business development in easy to get to locations.
•
Encouraging new businesses and attracting well-paid jobs to the borough.
•
Working with partners to enable residents to improve their workplace skills.
•
Managing the Council's commercial land and properties.
Meeting transport and mobility needs
•
Providing travel choices that are accessible and environment friendly.
•
Supporting the provision of public and community transport.
Improving town and district centres
•
Planning a district centre for Welborne and to maintain the prosperity of Fareham town
centre.
•
Identifying new sites for business development.
•
Carrying out environmental improvements.
•
Supporting the town centre.
•
Supporting the provision of markets.
•
Providing a range of off-street parking choices.
•
Modernising Osborn Road multi-storey car park.

Challenges
•
•
•

Maintaining the current level of market stalls, as markets are in a state of decline nationally.
Attracting future funding for continuation of prosperity.
Enabling the future prosperity of town and district centres for changing needs.
Page 66

Page 67

Leisure Opportunities for Health and Fun
What is this priority about?
We will provide opportunities for residents and visitors of all ages to socialise with other members
of our communities; participate in arts and entertainment activities; and improve their fitness and
health.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to achieve by 2023 are to:
•
Transform Westbury Manor Museum into a vibrant “culture stop” in Fareham Town Centre
(Complete July 2017);
•
Provide a new allotment site in the Stubbington area;
•
Improve the facilities at Cams Alders Recreation Ground to meet the needs of the sports
clubs and encourage greater participation by the community.

What else are we doing?
Providing leisure and cultural opportunities
•
Remodelling Ferneham Hall into Fareham Live, a new arts and entertainment venue,
providing a balanced programme of arts and entertainments activities.
•
Providing play equipment to meet the needs of the local community.
•
Providing swimming, indoor sport and fitness facilities at Fareham Leisure Centre and Holly
Hill Leisure Centre
•
Providing opportunities for residents and visitors to the Borough to explore the local history

Challenges
•
•

Construction of Fareham Live, a new community arts and entertainment venue.
Providing accessible play equipment in our play areas.

Page 68

Page 69

A Dynamic, Prudent and
Progressive Council
What is this priority about?
We will make clear decisions that can be understood by all. Action will be taken to improve our
openness in decision-making. Above all our priority is to offer good value for money by providing
high quality services and maintaining high levels of customer satisfaction, whilst keeping council
tax levels low when compared to other district councils.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to achieve by 2023 are to:
•
Continue to work within a balanced and sustainable budget, recognising the reduction in
Government funding;
•
Continue to implement the Vanguard Methodology across all Council services to ensure a
customer focussed approach and the quick resolution of problems;
•
Develop the Civic Offices to be an attractive working environment for existing and
prospective tenants;
•
Undertake a major review of all Council owned land and buildings to ensure that we are
making the best use of our assets;
•
Be alive to new opportunities for further investment in commercial properties to boost
income and help meet corporate priorities;
•
Continue to explore opportunities for shared services, partnerships and joint working with
neighbouring Councils;
•
Deliver a programme of work under the Opportunities Plan, to enable the Council to
generate additional revenue, reduce costs and respond to service pressures/opportunities.

What else are we doing?
Managing the Council's resources
•
Publishing a statement of the Council's accounts.
•
Maintaining effective financial control and internal audit.
•
Maximising the rate of Council Tax collection.
•
Preventing, detecting and investigating fraud and corruption.
•
Putting plans in place to keep our services going in an emergency.
Ensuring transparent decision making
•
Supporting elected members to carry out their role.
•
Providing timely access to meeting papers and maximising decisions made in public.
•
Setting rules and procedures to be followed by the Council and Committees when carrying
out their business.
Encouraging local democracy
•
Registering residents who are eligible to vote in elections.
•
Organising elections.
•
Reviewing boundaries and election arrangements.
Ensuring suitable measures are in place to bring about steadily improving services
•
Demonstrating continuous improvement and achievement of value for money.
•
Maximising partnership arrangements with other organisations to benefit the Borough.
•
Reviewing services and achieving better value for money.

Challenges
•
•

Achieving further savings across the Council.
Works to Civic Offices to ensure an attractive, customer focussed environment for
customers, tenants and Council employees.
Page 70

Page 71

Strategic Framework

Corporate Strategy
Medium-term Vision and
Priorities

Medium-term
Financial Strategy

Local Plan
(Core Strategy)
Theme Strategies
e.g. Housing/ Economic
Development/ Leisure

Local Service
Agreements
Short-term Activities and
Actions Delivered by
Individual Services

Individual Staff/ Team
Objectives
Agreed at Individual Performance Management
meetings


Page 72

Annual Budget

Agenda Item 8

Report to Policy and Resources
Scrutiny Panel
Date

6 October 2021

Report of:

Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

THE COUNCIL’S APPROACH TO THE PANDEMIC – A REVIEW

SUMMARY
The Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel is asked to consider and review the lessons learnt
as the Council responded to the coronavirus pandemic. The Chief Executive Officer will refer
any proposals or comments of the Panel to the Executive meeting on 11 October 2021.
RECOMMENDATION
That any proposals or comments of the Panel be referred to the Executive at its meeting on 11
October 2021.

Appendix A: Executive Report "The Council’s Approach to the Pandemic – A Review" to be
considered on 11 October 2021
Background Papers: None
Enquiries: For further information on this report please Peter Grimwood (Ext 4300)

Page 73

Page 74

Report to the Executive for Decision
11 October 2021
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

The Council’s Approach to the Pandemic – A Review

Report of:

Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priorities:

A Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council

Purpose:
To review the performance of the Council as it responded to the challenges
presented by the pandemic and to highlight any lessons learnt which might help to
shape our organisation in the future.

Executive summary:
The Council provides a wide range of public services and, when a crisis hits, there is
an expectation from local businesses and residents that those services will continue
to be delivered. Therefore, managers faced the double challenge of continuing with
the “day job” in the face of a pandemic whilst also dealing with additional workload
caused by the crisis.
Enquiries for advice and assistance increased dramatically across all service areas,
putting additional pressure on staffing resources. Volumes of household waste
continued to grow as people stayed in their homes, and littering became a major
problem in public areas where residents were taking their daily exercise. A serious
public health crisis inevitably increased the workload of the environmental health
team.
In addition to these challenges, the Government also asked all Councils to take on
new burdens such as issuing grants to local businesses, providing Covid Marshals
to patrol the Borough, setting up testing centres, delivering food parcels to
vulnerable people in the local community and securing emergency accommodation
for all rough sleepers in the borough.
In simple terms, workload increased dramatically for all Council employees and the
high volume of demand continued for a sustained period.
The pandemic caused a major shock to the Council’s finances and there was a
need for a significant call on reserves to ensure that services could be provided
during the crisis. The financial impact will be evident in the Council’s budgets for the
next few years.

Page 75

A structure was put in place to manage the Council during the crisis and individual
recovery plans were formulated covering the following areas:








Workforce Recovery
Democratic Recovery
Services Recovery
Public Spaces Recovery
Community Recovery
Economic Recovery
Financial Recovery

The coronavirus pandemic had a significant impact on the effective operation of the
Council over a sustained period and many lessons were learnt from dealing with the
crisis. Those lessons are being captured as part of the review of our emergency
planning procedures but will also be evident in proposals for new ways of working in
the future.
There is no doubt that the success of the Council’s response over the last 18
months has been down to the commitment and hard work of a dedicated workforce
who were determined to continue to provide critical services in the face of adversity.
Effective partnerships also played a crucial role in the Council’s response including
such bodies as the Local Resilience Forum, the Police, the voluntary sector, SLM,
Fareham Shopping Centre owners, the County Council and neighbouring District
Councils.

Recommendations:
That
a) the following reviews are undertaken and presented to the Executive for
decision: 







Future ICT provision for elected members;
establishing clear protocols on virtual briefing meetings;
new ways of working for office-based employees including more flexible
home working arrangements and the future requirements for office
accommodation and ICT;
the future of the Cash Office;
the Council’s approach to seasonal planting in the light of the lessons
learnt from the pandemic period;
future parking need in Fareham Town Centre; and
service level agreements with One Community and Fareham CAB to
reflect the lessons learnt from responding to the pandemic.

b) An Economic Development Strategy for the Borough be produced.
c) The proposal that future deputations can also be made in writing, or by a video
or audio clip, be approved.

Page 76

Reason:
To act on the lessons learnt from responding to the pandemic, to ensure resilience
and preparedness for dealing with a similar emergency situation in the future.

Cost of proposals:
The known costs of responding to the pandemic are on record as part of the
Council’s budget reporting process. These costs are likely to increase as we assess
the long-term impact on income streams.

Background papers: None

Reference papers:
 Covid-19 Recovery Plan (Framework) – Executive 3 August 2020
 Covid-19 Public Spaces Recovery Plan – Executive 3 August 2020
 Covid-19 Community Recovery Plan – Executive 3 August 2020
 Covid-19 Economic Recovery Plan – Executive 7 September 2020
 Covid-19 Emergency Revised Budget and Financial recovery Plan – Executive
7 September 2020
 Covid-19 Emergency Decisions and Democratic Services Recovery Plan –
Council 22 October 2020

Page 77

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

11 October 2021

Subject:

The Council’s Approach to the Pandemic – A Review

Briefing by:

Chief Executive Officer

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION
1.

In early March 2020, the Council started to put emergency planning arrangements
into place as a response to the emerging pandemic caused by the Covid-19 virus.
Those emergency planning arrangements effectively continued for a period of nearly
18 months.

2.

The purpose of this report is to review the performance of the Council as it responded
to the challenges presented by the pandemic and to highlight any lessons learnt
which might help to shape our organisation in the future.
OVERVIEW

3.

The Council provides a wide range of public services and, when a crisis hits, there is
an expectation from local businesses and residents that those services will continue
to be delivered. Therefore, managers faced the double challenge of continuing with
the “day job” in the face of a pandemic whilst also dealing with additional workload
caused by the crisis.

4.

Enquiries for advice and assistance increased dramatically across all service areas,
putting additional pressure on staffing resources. Volumes of household waste
continued to grow as people stayed in their homes, and littering became a major
problem in public areas where residents were taking their daily exercise. A serious
public health crisis inevitably increased the workload of the environmental health
team.

5.

Support services such as ICT, Human Resources and the Facilities Team were
inundated with requests from managers trying to provide employees with the right
equipment, advice and guidance to allow them to continue to provide services to the
public in a safe working environment.

6.

In addition to these challenges, the Government also asked all Councils to take on
new burdens such as issuing grants to local businesses, providing Covid Marshals to
patrol the Borough, setting up testing centres, delivering food parcels to vulnerable

Page 78

people in the local community and securing emergency accommodation for all rough
sleepers in the borough, in line with its “Everyone In” policy.
7.

In simple terms, workload increased dramatically for all Council employees and the
high volume of demand continued for a sustained period.
STRUCTURE

8.

When a crisis hits, it is important that the Council puts a clear decision-making
structure in place. As such, emergency planning procedures were implemented in
March 2020 with the establishment of a special crisis management group under the
leadership of the Chief Executive Officer. The Response and Recovery Group met
“virtually” via Microsoft Teams on a regular basis throughout the pandemic, following
a set agenda which ensured that all aspects of crisis management were covered.

9.

A special intranet site was established to ensure that the team could share real time
information, and a Covid-19 dashboard was also created to monitor infection levels in
the Borough and amongst the workforce.

10. Decisions need to be made at pace during a crisis, and the Chief Executive Officer
was able to maintain regular telephone contact with the Executive Leader to discuss
the key issues and challenges being addressed by the Response and Recovery
Group. This allowed timely decisions to be made whilst maintaining a democratic
overview.
11. The Group established a set of objectives to assist the emergency planning process
and these were reported to a virtual meeting of the Council’s Executive on 3 August
2020. The objectives are set out below: Response Phase Objectives
 Maintain essential/critical services and decision making.
 Protect and support employees.
 Support our residents, particularly those who are vulnerable.
 Support our business community.
 Stabilise the Council’s operations during lockdown.
 Re-establish Council’s operations wherever possible and practical
Adjustment Phase Objectives
 Prepare and plan for the repopulation of employees to Council buildings.
 Prepare and plan for customer visits/appointments to the Civic Offices.
 Consider appropriate PPE where relevant, plan accordingly.
 Continue improvement to working from home functionality.
 Continue improvement to workplace functionality.
 Undertake necessary measures to allow democratic decisions to continue.
 Fully understand and plan for peaks in work as we move into ‘Recovery’.
 Further develop and refine the Council’s Recovery Plan.
Recovery Phase Objectives
 Seek to restore social, economic and political wellbeing.
 Seek to restore access to public spaces.
 Assist the Borough’s communities and businesses to recover.
Page 79









Appropriately recognise and address the trauma caused by the pandemic.
Appropriately recognise the positives that arose from the pandemic.
Develop a clear action plan on how the Council will address the financial impacts of
Covid-19.
Establish environmental positives arising from the pandemic and what can be carried
forward.
Learn from the incident, revisit Business Continuity and Emergency Plans.
Review the Council’s Corporate Strategy to take account of the post Covid-19 position
(if required).
Keep the objectives and actions of the Covid-19 Recovery Plan under review in order
to adapt to any further Covid-19 related issues that arise.

12. A Recovery Plan Framework was also put in place, and individual recovery plans
were presented to the Executive during the first six months of the pandemic. The
Recovery Plan Framework is illustrated below: -

13. These will be reviewed later in the report.
14. It is considered that, overall, the emergency structure outlined above worked well,
providing a robust framework for decision making and planning for the duration of the
crisis.
COMMUNICATION
15. Good channels of communication are an essential part of the Council’s emergency
planning framework. The nature of the Covid-19 crisis meant that many employees,
councillors and residents were isolated at home and were unable to tap into their
usual communication networks. Understandably, they wanted to know what was
happening or how they could help to contribute to the Council’s overall response.

Page 80

16. Internally, the main method of communicating the work of the Response and
Recovery Group was the special coronavirus e-bulletin produced by the Chief
Executive Officer on a weekly basis. An early decision was taken to also copy the
bulletin to elected members avoiding the need for duplication by producing a special
members newsletter.
17. The Executive Leader also took the initiative to set up virtual on-line briefings for all
councillors. This provided an opportunity for elected members to be briefed by the
Executive Leader and Chief Executive Officer and to ask questions and raise issues.
Following the first national lockdown, these changed to briefings on a political group
basis.
18. In addition, managers were encouraged to hold virtual team meetings with groups of
employees, and individuals, on a regular basis to ensure that staff did not feel
isolated and were well informed of developments taking place across the Council.
19. Of course, there were many depot-based employees who could not undertake their
duties from home, and they were able to have regular face to face briefings with their
managers.
20. From a public perspective, the Council’s website provided the main source of
information and guidance on all issues related to Covid-19 and this was supported by
an ongoing social media presence. The Council Connect stand in Fareham Shopping
Centre, public noticeboards and the bus shelters located across the Borough proved
to be valuable assets for the display of important poster information.
DEMOCRATIC RECOVERY
21. The Council is a democratically led public organisation, so it was important to set up
a process to allow Councillors to meet and take decisions. Initially, this was achieved
through the Executive Leader delegating individual decision-making powers to
individual Executive members, but as soon as the technology was available this
moved quickly to virtual meetings of the Executive and Full Council.
22. Unlike other non-Executive Committees, the Planning Committee continued as did
the planning system nationally, following advice received from the Government’s
Chief Planning Officer in March 2020. The Planning Committee meeting held on the
13 May 2020 was Fareham Borough Council’s first ever virtual committee meeting.
23. There was less urgency to set up the Scrutiny Panels as they were not decisionmaking bodies. The postponement of these Panels between March and September
was of significant benefit to officers, who needed to focus on delivering services
during the early stages of the pandemic. Arrangements were in place to set up a
meeting of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel should the need for a call-in
arise.
24. Guidance was issued to all councillors regarding their role and the need to operate in
a Covid secure manner. This was regularly updated throughout the period of the
pandemic.
25. As the pandemic progressed, it became clear that the technology being used by
some elected members was struggling to cope with virtual meetings and a new way
of working. A review of members ICT was therefore undertaken, and the results are
presented in a separate report on this agenda. This includes a proposal to move to
Page 81

paperless committee meetings given the success of virtual meetings.
Action: Undertake a full review of ICT provision for elected members

26. There is no doubt that the availability of Microsoft Teams technology made a major
contribution to the way that the Council could continue to operate during the
pandemic. The technology enabled councillors to participate in public meetings from
the safety of their home. Live streaming of meetings to the public also meant that the
debates and decisions could be transparent, avoiding the need for the public to
physically attend meetings. The decision to allow deputations to be made in writing,
or by video or audio clip also proved to be popular and it is recommended that this
facility be retained in the future.
Action: It is recommended that deputations can be made in writing, or by video or
audio clip in the future

27. There are environmental benefits to keeping officer/member briefings as virtual
meetings in the future as these are clearly more efficient in terms of time
management and they also reduce the need for car travel. Councillors will be asked
how they wish to use virtual meetings in the future.
Action: Undertake a review setting out the issues regarding live streaming of public
meetings and establishing clear protocols on virtual briefing meetings.
28. The other major challenge faced by both officers and members under the heading of
“democratic recovery” was the need to organise local elections during a pandemic.
Members will be fully aware of the constraints that they faced in campaigning for the
elections. Similarly, Officers had to be as agile as possible in delivering a safe,
transparent, and fair election process helped by a virtual army of paid volunteers. The
combined efforts of many people fortunately led to a successful set of elections in
May 2021.
WORKFORCE RECOVERY
29. The Council employs over 400 people in a variety of different roles. It was important
from the outset to provide clear direction and guidance on safe working practices.
Detailed risk assessments were undertaken by individual managers and the results
were brought together in corporate “Covid Secure” guidance documents. These
documents were regularly amended and updated to reflect new Government
announcements.
30. Working relationships with the Trade Unions remained positive throughout the period
of the pandemic and this allowed timely decisions to be made regarding staff welfare
and safe working practices because of the good levels of trust that have been
established on both sides.
31. The HR Team placed a heavy emphasis on supporting the mental well-being of our
employees, particularly those who were clinically vulnerable or had family members
in that category. By working together to understand personal circumstances, HR
Officers were able to provide tailored and supportive measures. Effectively, we
Page 82

sought to maximise the capacity and performance of our workforce at a time when
we needed them most.
32. Inevitably, we learnt a great deal from managing the crisis. Whilst many front-line
employees were unable to work from home they did not complain. They
demonstrated a clear loyalty and commitment to the Council and were determined to
maintain public services such as bin collections, building control inspections, housing
repairs, sheltered housing visits, cleansing and grounds maintenance throughout the
crisis. The enforcement officers took on extra responsibilities as Covid Marshals to
help provide support and reassurance to local people.
33. The fact that these services are all provided by “in house” teams is worthy of note.
They all demonstrated flexibility and were prepared to undertake a range of different
duties to help the Council provide services throughout the crisis. Anecdotal evidence
suggests that some of those Councils who contract out most of their front-line
services struggled to achieve such flexibility as the new duties required were “not part
of the contract”.
34. The crisis also helped to identify a set of “core staff” required to keep the Civic
Offices open. This was an important learning point which will be built into future
business continuity plans. Future plans also need to recognise that our tenants
require access to the building during a crisis.
35. The majority of our employees were asked to work from home. Initially this placed
enormous strains on the technology required to support home working. ICT
equipment was in short supply and many struggled with adequate network
connections. However, gradually, all employees were furnished with the right ICT
equipment, connectivity and furniture to undertake their duties from home.
36. As the pandemic progressed, it became clear that it was possible to still provide a full
range of Council services with a mixture of home and office working. Employees also
recognised that such an arrangement was a positive experience in terms of work/life
balance. The Deputy Chief Executive Officer was therefore asked to lead a corporate
group to look into the future options for more flexible working arrangements. The
group was also tasked to look at the Council’s future requirements for office space
and ICT equipment.
Action: To undertake a review into “new ways of working” for office-based
employees including more flexible home working arrangements and the future
requirements for office accommodation and ICT.

37. The results of the review are presented in a separate report on this agenda.
SERVICE RECOVERY
38. The Council continued to deliver a wide range of services throughout the period of
the pandemic although some adjustments needed to be made to comply with
Government guidance. For example, Leisure Centres, the Museum and Community
Centres were required to close. There were also some limitations placed on outdoor
play areas, sports pitches and outdoor gyms, all at the request of the Government.
39. In the early stages of the pandemic, it became clear that managers needed to
prioritise services to ensure that resources could be used on critical services. A good
Page 83

example of this was the need to suspend the garden waste collection service for a
few weeks to enable a concentrated effort on dealing with very large volumes of
household waste. It was also necessary to deploy staff to different areas of the
Council to assist with excessive workload, such as the issuing of emergency grants
to local businesses.
40. This prioritisation was carried out by the Chief Executive’s Management Team at an
early stage when it became clear that our business continuity plans were not fit for
purpose to deal with this particular crisis. A major learning point from the last year is
that managers need to review and amend these business continuity plans in the light
of their recent experience.
Action: Review and rewrite all of the Council’s business continuity plans

41. The prioritisation process has proved useful in highlighting those critical services with
high community impact, as well as those services which are nice to have but not
essential. The latter will be reviewed over the coming months to determine whether
there are opportunities to achieve future savings in these areas.
42. For example, the cash office in the Civic Offices was closed for many months, and
customers reverted to paying their bills on-line or by telephone. Since reopening the
Civic Offices the number of transactions through the cash office has been very low,
so it is proposed to undertake a full review into the possibility of closing the facility in
the future.
Action: Review the future of the Cash Office

PUBLIC SPACES RECOVERY
43. A Public Spaces Recovery Plan was presented to the Executive on 3 August 2020.
The report focused on the impact of the pandemic on urban and green spaces in the
Borough.
44. The plan recognised that public spaces form an important part of our Borough’s
infrastructure and that they could be affected as a result of the pandemic, due to: 

Public concerns that the areas are crowded and likely to increase the risk of virus
transmission;



public concerns with the cleanliness of public spaces;



a lack of public toilet facilities could prevent people from using public spaces; and



a reduction in the use of facilities such as public car parks would result in low
footfall for retail outlets and a loss of income for the Council.

45. Working with partners such as Fareham Shopping Centre and Network Rail, actions
were taken to manage the risks, including signage and improved cleaning regimes.
46. Generally, the plan proved to be successful. Excessive littering of public spaces was
Page 84

a problem, but this was down to sheer volume of usage rather than the lack of bins or
an adequate cleaning regime. The closure of skate parks also proved to be
problematic as the users continued to pull down perimeter fencing erected by the
Council.
47. New seasonal planting arrangements were put in place as a temporary measure
because of the difficulties in sourcing planting material. The new approach appears
to be more sustainable and environmentally friendly and the Streetscene Team will
continue to review whether the changes should be implemented on a more
permanent basis.
Action: Review the Council’s approach to seasonal planting in the light of the
lessons learnt from the pandemic period.

48. There is no doubt that the pandemic has had a major impact on the usage of public
car parks in Fareham Town Centre. Usage has started to increase over recent
months but is nowhere near pre-pandemic levels. It will therefore be necessary to
undertake a review of the future parking need required in Fareham Town Centre.
Action: Review future parking need in Fareham Town Centre

COMMUNITY RECOVERY PLAN
49. The Council’s strong working relationship with the voluntary sector proved to be
invaluable during the pandemic. Established organisations such as One Community
and the Citizens Advice Bureau provided an essential safety net for local residents
struggling with the impact of the national lockdown. Other voluntary organisations,
such as Acts of Kindness, Portchester Community Association and Waypoint Church
came forward to help with shopping and food delivery to vulnerable people in the
local community. They were supported by hundreds of local residents volunteering
their time to help during the crisis.
50. This voluntary network was coordinated by the Council’s Leisure and Community
Team and proved to be a very resilient and successful model. Those residents who
needed support, or wished to volunteer, contacted the Council and were then
signposted to the relevant voluntary agency who were happy to provide effective
support. The lessons learnt from the crisis will be built into future Service Level
Agreements with relevant community organisations.
Action: Review Service Level Agreements with One Community and Fareham CAB
to reflect the lessons learnt from responding to the pandemic.

51. The Executive Leader and the Mayor sent letters to hundreds of volunteers in
recognition of their services to the local community, and the Council has also
introduced a Covid hero award scheme for 2021.
52. Leisure and community venues were severely affected by the crisis. The Government
required leisure centres, theatres, museums, gyms, sports pavilions and community
centres to close for a long period of time. This threatened the financial viability of
Page 85

those venues but, fortunately, the Council was able to provide support through the
distribution of local and national grants. In the case of the two leisure centres in the
Borough, the Council needed to renegotiate the terms of the contract with SLM to
ensure the future financial stability of the venues.
Action taken: A report was presented to the Executive outlining the new terms of the
contract with SLM to operate Fareham Leisure Centre and Holly Hill Leisure Centre

53. The future viability of the new arts and entertainment venue “Fareham Live” needed
urgent consideration and a report was presented to the Executive suggesting that the
project was put on hold for a few months to assess the impact of the pandemic on the
theatre industry. New terms have been negotiated with BH Live, the proposed
operator of the new venue, to help spread the level of risk in the future. A report was
presented to the Executive in September 2021 giving the project the green light to
move forward.
Action taken: A report was presented to the Executive reviewing the viability of the
“Fareham Live” project and the contract terms with BH Live, the proposed operator.

54. The Council also recognised the impact that the pandemic had on small community
groups in the Borough. As a result, we introduced a new Fareham Lottery as well as
a special small community grant scheme to help groups to get back on their feet.
55. We can all recognise that one of the lessons learnt from the pandemic is the
importance of access to a network of local leisure and community facilities. People
need places to socialise as well as exercise and the sudden closure of these facilities
had a significant impact on the lives of many local residents.
ECONOMIC RECOVERY PLAN
56. Clearly, the pandemic has had a major impact on the UK’s economy. The impact on
the Borough’s economy will take time to measure but the obvious signs can already
be seen in Fareham Town Centre with the permanent closure of a number of retail
and restaurant units. The High Street was facing a number of challenges prior to the
pandemic and it appears that the crisis has accelerated some of the changes that we
expected to see over a much longer time period. The emerging Local Plan
recognises the need for the regeneration of Fareham Town Centre.
57. One positive story from the pandemic has been the growth of Fareham’s Monday
Market. Some forms of outdoor trading were allowed under lockdown rules and this
emphasised the importance of the open market in Fareham Town Centre. The
Council was able to offer incentives to market traders through the payment of grants
and this resulted in a greater variety of produce which has proved to be popular with
local residents.
58. A report was presented to the Executive on 7 September 2020 setting out the
Council’s Economic Recovery Plan. The Plan was informed by a detailed data and
baseline analysis review of the Borough’s economy and set out recommendations on
actions required to guide the economic recovery of the Borough over the short term
(12-18 months).
Page 86

59. The Plan is the first of a two staged economic development programme for the
Borough. The second stage will be a more detailed Economic Development Strategy
for Fareham, which will set out a long-term vision for jobs, investment and
sustainable growth.
Action: Produce an Economic Development Strategy for the Borough

60. The purpose of this report is not to repeat the actions set out in the short-term
Economic Recovery Plan but it is worth noting that, in response to the pandemic, the
Council has created a new post of Economic Development Officer within the Planning
Strategy Team. This post will support the Head of Service in developing and
delivering the Economic Recovery Plan and Economic Development Strategy for the
Borough.
FINANCIAL RECOVERY PLAN
61. An Emergency Revised Budget and Financial Recovery Plan was presented to the
Executive on 7 September 2020. As well as recognising the extraordinary costs that
were incurred to enable Council services to continue to operate effectively, the Plan
also highlighted the widespread disruption to those services which generated
significant income streams. These included, for example, car parks, trade waste, and
commercial property. The costs associated with the leisure centre contracts were
significant, and treasury investment income was affected by adverse cash flows and
reduced interest rates.
62. The impact of measures taken to support individuals and businesses were also
evident in the Council’s cash flow position, with relaxed payment terms, immediate
payment to suppliers, suspended debt collection activities etc, all reducing the net
cash available on a daily basis.
63. In recognition of the potential scale of the impact, the financial management and
governance arrangements were strengthened, particularly in relation to
 Cashflow monitoring
 Service financial performance
 Covid-19 response expenditure
 Income collection and arrears performance
 Government funding opportunities
64. Weekly monitoring and reporting to the S151 Officer were instigated, together with
regular reporting to the corporate Covid-19 Response and Recovery Group. These
measures ensured a high degree of awareness and enabled the corporate team to
closely manage the financial risks.
Action taken: Financial Management and Governance arrangements were
strengthened to closely manage financial risks

Page 87

65. In addition to managing the enormous shock to the Council’s finances, the Finance
Team were also required to administer Government grants to local businesses as a
matter of urgency. This put a great deal of pressure on the team and staffing
resources were redeployed from other areas of the Council to help deal with the large
volume of work.
66. It also became apparent that the different funding streams being offered by the
Government required a significant level of officer resource to apply for the funding,
spend the money quickly to ensure that it benefited the local economy, and monitor
the outcomes. Whilst this was managed effectively, a lesson learnt from the crisis
was that, in future, we should allocate a named individual to take responsibility for
each funding stream to ensure that we have the right controls in place.
Action: In future emergencies, allocate special funding streams to named
individuals.

67. The impact of the pandemic on the Council’s finances were subsequently reported
through the normal budget setting process and end of year accounts, so will not be
repeated in this report. In summary, the crisis put massive pressure on the Council’s
budgets and financial management processes requiring a heavy call on financial
reserves. Finance staff were under enormous pressure to deliver grant funding
according to Government guidelines but successfully managed to juggle their day job
with additional duties for a sustained period of time.
CONCLUSION
68. As can be seen above, the coronavirus pandemic had a significant impact on the
effective operation of the Council over a sustained period and many lessons were
learnt from dealing with the crisis.
69. Those lessons are being captured as part of the review of our emergency planning
procedures but will also be evident in proposals for new ways of working in the future.
70. There is no doubt that the success of the Council’s response over the last 18 months
has been down to the commitment and hard work of a dedicated workforce who were
determined to continue to provide critical services in the face of adversity.
Councillors, quite rightly, have acknowledged the efforts of the workforce on a
number of occasions and demonstrated their support by allocating additional leave to
all employees.
71. Effective partnerships also played a crucial role in the Council’s response including
such bodies as the Local Resilience Forum, the Police, the voluntary sector, SLM,
Fareham Shopping Centre owners, the County Council and neighbouring District
Councils.

For further information on this report please contact Peter Grimwood (Ext 4300)

Page 88

Agenda Item 9

Report to Policy and Resources
Scrutiny Panel
Date

6 October 2021

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

PROPOSAL FOR A NEW WAY OF WORKING

SUMMARY
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our staff worked in the Council’s offices, at
other Council facilities (such as sheltered housing schemes) or worked across the
borough maintaining our parks, collecting household waste, visiting people and homes,
all with one thing in common; to provide high quality customer services across
Fareham borough.
Although we had already started the move to mobile and cloud-based ICT solutions,
the pandemic led us to a rapid step-change in our use of mobile technology and
working remotely. What we learnt from this experience is that many of our services
can be provided very effectively through remote working, and this led to a review being
undertaken to consider how we might build on this approach in the future.
A vision for the way we work in the future has now been developed and will be
considered by the Executive at its meeting on 11th October 2021. The Scrutiny Panel
are invited to consider the outcome of the review and the vision, attached to this report,
and provide comments to the Executive.
RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Panel note the report and provide comments to the
Executive to be considered at its meeting on 11th October 2021.

Page 89

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Andrew Wannell, Deputy Chief
Executive Officer. (Ext 4620)

Page 90

Report to the Executive for Decision
11 October 2021
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

Proposal for a new way of working

Report of:

The Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priorities:

A dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
To seek approval for a new approach to the way we work.

Executive summary:
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our staff worked in the Council’s offices, at
other Council facilities (such as sheltered housing schemes) or worked across the
borough maintaining our parks, collecting household waste, visiting people and
homes, all with one thing in common; to provide high quality customer services
across Fareham borough.
Although we had already started the move to mobile and cloud-based ICT solutions,
the pandemic led us to a rapid step-change in our use of mobile technology and
working remotely. What we learnt from this experience, is that many of our services
can be provided very effectively through remote working, and this led to a review
being undertaken to consider how we might build on this approach in the future.
A vision for the way we work in the future has been developed, as set out in
Appendix A to this report, and the Executive are asked to approve the new
approach.

Recommendation:
It is recommended that the Executive agrees the vision for the new way of working.

Reason:
To enable the new approach to flexible working to be implemented.

Page 91

Cost of proposals:
There are no immediate costs associated with delivery of the vision, as the cost of
technology investment and building refurbishment are covered in the approved
capital programme, which is kept under annual review.

Appendices:

A: Proposed Vision for the Way We Work
B: Hybrid Working Employee Guide

Background papers: Project documents associated with research and
engagement.

Reference papers:

None

Page 92

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

11 October 2021

Subject:

A Proposal for a new way of working

Briefing by:

The Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION
1.

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our staff worked in the Council’s offices, at
other Council facilities (such as sheltered housing schemes) or worked across the
borough maintaining our parks, collecting household waste, visiting people and homes,
all with one thing in common; to provide high quality customer services across Fareham
Borough.

2.

The Council was already embracing mobile technology, and our ICT strategy was
moving quickly towards cloud-based solutions, to help support this. However, the
COVID-19 pandemic forced a step-change in the use of mobile technology and working
remotely. From this experience, it became clear that many of the Council’s services can
be provided very effectively through remote working, and this report sets out how this
approach will be developed in the future.
THE APPROACH

3.

As it was clear that aspects of the Council’s COVID response had potential long term
benefits, both in the way that services are provided, but also the flexibility offered as an
employer, a review was undertaken to understand the issues and benefits of a remote
working arrangement, learning not only from our own experience but also from those
organisations that had established this hybrid approach well before the pandemic.

4.

As part of its research, an Officer review team was established to understand what a
dispersed workforce arrangement would look like, how teams continue to interact
effectively, the pitfalls in managing and working in a hybrid team, and how others have
addressed these issues.

5.

The team engaged with 12 local authorities, an NHS Trust and 8 private sector
companies, all of whom had adopted a hybrid approach and were willing to share their
experiences.

6.

All employees had the opportunity to comment, and a comprehensive survey was
undertaken in February, to understand the experiences of the workforce in the remote

Page 93

working environment. The survey also sought to understand what mattered to
employees in these arrangements, the potential benefits from an employee’s
perspective, and the concerns they may have if this arrangement was permanent.
7.

Discussions also took place with Heads of Service, to understand how well the
organisation performed in transitioning to a remote working arrangement, the issues
they were confronted with in managing a remote team and delivering customer facing
services, and the tools they felt would be necessary to support them in managing a
dispersed workforce permanently.

KEY MESSAGES FROM THE RESEARCH WORK
Engaging with Other Organisations
8.

It was clear that each organisation has its own particular motivation to move to a
dispersed workforce, but there were some common themes that were highlighted, and
these have been considered in preparing our vision for the way we work in the future.
These were:

Changing your workstyle should be considered a “culture change” programme, as
it will require teams to think and operate differently.



This cannot be just about changing people’s place of work, and must also address
the implications for technology solutions, data security, building and facilities, etc.



Trust is central to working within a dispersed workforce, and HR policies should
reflect this, but with good management arrangements in place to address issues
where they arise.



Permission to prudently adjust boundaries and learn from that experience, with an
acceptance that not all ideas would be workable, allowed organisations to
iteratively improve and develop solutions which worked best for them.



Adopting a corporate approach will ensure consistency and fairness, and provided
that the new arrangements offer meaningful benefits to employee well-being, then
it will result in a positive outcome, and make the Council a more attractive
employer.



Managing a team proactively is critical to building team spirit, for example through
regular physical and virtual team meetings.



Obvious benefits from a hot-desk approach can be achieved, provided there are
sufficient desk spaces in the right places, to underpin a team ethos.



Everyone needs some “personal” space (such as storage, lockers, etc), and plenty
of space to conduct virtual meetings without causing disturbance.



The transition to a dispersed workforce had removed some geographic boundaries
as organisations could recruit staff with specific abilities which they had not been
able to previously find locally.

Page 94

Engaging with our Employees
9.

233 office-based employees responded to the survey, half of whom work in front line
customer-facing services. The key themes from the survey were that while the majority
of employees had not worked regularly from home prior to the pandemic, the
experience had been generally very positive, and they were able to do their jobs very
effectively.

10. The flexibility offered by the Council enabled them to manage the competing priorities in
their personal life, while still doing a full day’s work. Issues such as caring
responsibilities for relatives, childcare and school runs, personal commitments, etc,
were all issues that our staff cited as important to them.
11. On the whole, the technology and the work environment were suitable for staff to do
their job and there was positive feedback about the remote support they received when
things went wrong.
12. There was a strong desire from our staff to continue some form of home working, citing
a better work/life balance in a more focussed working environment whilst allowing them
to juggle all the competing priorities in their daily life, as important aspects.
13. It was, however, also evident that there remains a proportion who would not want to
work at home permanently (12%), and irrespective of where they work, all staff
expressed the value they placed on maintaining the links with their teams and
relationships with their colleagues.
14. Another 15% of respondents expressed a preference to work from home full time.
15. There was also clear support for maintaining our town centre location as the office base.

Engaging with our Managers
16. It was clear that our managers recognised the benefits of home working and were
generally very willing to embrace a remote working approach for their teams. The need
for a clear corporate approach was recognised as important, to ensure consistency
across the teams, and also recognising that the ultimate priority is delivering services to
our customers.
17. Managers felt that the town centre location remained important to their staff and
customers, especially as a base to use flexibly to meet with their teams.
18. The issues that they felt should be considered if the Council moved to a more dispersed
workforce were:

How we will ensure the well-being of staff and maintain good morale;



How we can overcome “intuitive awareness” of issues within teams when they are
not physically present;



The steps we can take to ensure team bonds do not weaken;

Page 95



The importance of maintaining professionalism in the way we work;



The importance of robust technology to underpin working arrangements;



The importance of data security while working remotely;



Balancing the needs of the team and the wishes of the employee;



Providing the appropriate training and support network to help managers manage
in a different way.

A Vision for the Way We Work in the Future
19. Learning from the research and engagement work undertaken, a set of key principles
were developed to guide the future way of working. With the customer at the heart of
what we do, it is important that we ensure that any new way of working still enables
customers to access the services we provide.
20. This is likely to mean enhancing our use of technology so we can offer services
securely and in the way that our customers would want them.
21. This will also require some new skills for staff and managers, to get the best from
working differently, but always with the aim of being inclusive in offering flexible working
arrangements and preserving the goodwill within the organisation.
22. Appendix A to this report sets out the draft vision for the way we will work in the future.

Our Vision for the way we work


We will be a flexible employer, offering working arrangements that suit
the home and work life commitments of our employees.



Because the needs of our customers continue to be our most important
consideration, the way we work will contribute positively to delivering
customer services



We will be accessible when customers want to talk to us, using
channels of communication that customers want to use.



A central location will always be important, but with a more dispersed
workforce, it will be a smaller, multi-functional facility, with a focus on
serving customers and the focal point for local democratic activities.



As a flexible employer we will offer flexible choices for where staff can
work, whether it be at home, in the office or a blended approach



All employees can expect to be supported equally, no matter where
they are based, and we will ensure staff have the right tools to do their
job

Page 96



We will encourage staff to manage their work and home life
commitments in a way that best supports their well-being, and in return,
we will trust that our staff will give “a fair day’s work for a fair day’s pay”.



We will equip our managers with the skills to manage a dispersed
workforce and encourage measures that maintain a strong team ethos

THE VISION IN PRACTICE
23. As we move forward with the vision for a new way of working we recognise that we will
need to adapt many of our working practises, our HR, ICT and Property policies and
strategies will need to be reviewed, and we will want to be sure that our staff and our
managers are well equipped with the skills to work in a different way. This work is
already underway and will evolve over time.
24. There are clear benefits from retaining a central location for our office base, as it
provides easy access for our customers, it supports the town centre economy and is a
focal point for service delivery and civic/democratic activities.
25. In practical terms, our new approach will present opportunities to make better use of the
office accommodation by adopting a shared desk approach. Consequently, there will
be scope to consider further sharing of the Civic Offices with other partner organisations
who may be looking to dispose of their accommodation as they adopt similar hybrid
working. There may also be opportunities to consolidate the use of space at the Civic
Offices and Broadcut depot in the longer term, as the demands upon the depot space
change, (due to the Government’s emerging waste strategy, for example).
26. Future investment in the Council’s office buildings will take account of the changing
demands arising from a new way of working and could result in positive outcomes in
terms of reducing the Council’s carbon footprint.
27. The Civic offices will also remain as the central location for democratic business, public
meetings and civic activities, but the investment in new technology may offer
opportunities to widen the Council’s reach to local communities, as was successfully
achieved during the pandemic period.

CONCLUSION
28. Our response to the COVID pandemic has shown that we can provide the same high
level of service in a variety of ways, whilst offering greater flexibility to our workforce to
manage their work/life balance. This vision embraces the lessons learned over that
time, and with continued investment in technology and in our teams, we hope to attract
and retain the best talent to continue delivering services to Fareham residents.

Page 97

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Andrew Wannell, Deputy Chief
Executive Officer. (Ext 4620)

Page 98

Vision for the Way We Work
Introduction
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our employees worked in the Council’s offices, at
other Council facilities (such as sheltered housing schemes) or worked across the borough
maintaining our parks, collecting household waste, visiting people and homes, all with one
thing in common; to provide high quality customer services across Fareham Borough.
We were already embracing mobile technology, and our ICT strategy was moving quickly
towards cloud-based solutions, to help support this. However, the COVID pandemic very
quickly moved us from a gradual transition to a step-change in our use of mobile technology
and working remotely.
What we learnt from this experience, is that many of our services can be provided very
effectively through remote working. We also learnt that, for some employees, working from
home allowed them to manage their home and work life commitments more effectively. More
broadly, less commuting meant less journeys on the local roads, which would have
contributed to reduced congestion and improved air quality.
This vision explains how we intend to build on the very significant steps in response to the
pandemic, on a journey to become a more flexible employer.

What Did Our Staff Think?
In February 2021, we asked our employees about their experience working from home
throughout the pandemic. We also asked our managers about managing service delivery
with a largely dispersed team. This has helped us to understand what matters, as we shape
our vision for the Council, as an employer, in the future.

What we learnt from others
Page 99

As we developed this vision, we wanted not only to capture the progress made already, but
also learn from those organisations that have embraced a flexible, or dispersed, approach to
managing their workforce and delivering services. We have engaged with other local
authorities, other public sector bodies as well as a number of large private sector
organisations, to understand how their experiences can influence our approach.
As we adopt a more flexible approach in the future, we need to recognise that this is a culture
change for many of our loyal and long-standing employees. We have established a strong
team ethos across the organisation, which has underpinned our approach to delivering
customer services, and this must not be eroded. We also want to preserve the sense of
identity within teams, as this encourages us to go the extra mile for our colleagues and our
customers.
Finally, we need to recognise that a different way of working will offer many opportunities
which need to be harnessed, as well as new challenges, which need to be addressed. This
will ensure that the Council continues to offer excellent value for money for residents.

Our Vision
Our vision has been developed from a set of key principles.
With the customer at the heart of
what we do, we must ensure
that any new way of working still
enables customers to access
the services we provide.
This is likely to mean enhancing
our use of technology so we can
offer services securely and in
the way that our customers
would want them.
This will also require some new
skills for the workforce to get the
best from working differently, but
always with the aim of being
inclusive in offering flexible
working
arrangements
and
preserving the goodwill within
the organisation.

Page 100

Our Vision for the way we work



We will be a flexible employer, offering working arrangements that suit the
home and work life commitments of our employees



Because the needs of our customers continue to be our most important
consideration, the way we work will contribute positively to
delivering customer services



We will be accessible when customers want to talk to us, using channels of
communication that customers want to use



A central location will always be important, but with a more dispersed
workforce it will be a smaller, multi-functional facility, with a focus on serving
customers and the focal point for local democratic activities



As a flexible employer we will offer flexible choices for where employees
can work, whether it be at home, in the office or a blended approach



All employees can expect to be supported equally, no matter where they are
based, and we will ensure staff have the right tools to do their job



We will encourage employees to manage their work and home
life commitments in a way that best supports their well-being, and we will trust
that our employees will give “a fair day’s work for a fair day’s pay”



We will equip our managers with the skills to manage a dispersed workforce
and encourage measures that maintain a strong team ethos

How Will this Work in Practice?
When it comes to delivering our vision, we recognise that we will need to adapt many of our
working practises, our HR, ICT and Property policies and strategies will need to be reviewed,
and we will want to be sure that our employees and our managers are well equipped with the
skills to work in a different way.
With the flexibility to request a different work pattern, we expect to see our “office-based”
employees working either at home, at the office, or a blended approach of the two. As a
result, we would expect to see fewer people in the Civic Offices or Broadcut Offices on a
daily basis, and to take advantage of the need for less space, we will move to a desk sharing
approach. All teams will have dedicated areas to maintain team cohesion, but with fewer
desks required, we will gradually release space for other uses.
Provided that our customers can access our services during our normal operational hours,
individuals may wish to spread their work over a longer working day, to help them
accommodate home-life commitments (such as caring responsibilities, school runs, etc). It
will be for managers to agree working patterns within a corporate framework, to find the right
balance for the team and each individual.
It is important that we take an inclusive approach irrespective of where our employees are
based. Compliant workplace furniture and equipment will be essential to ensure the welfare

Page 101

of our employees, and suitable ICT equipment to fulfil the roles is also a necessity, with ready
access to all the support services.
Managing a team and working remotely can be positive, but also brings with it its own
challenges. Our managers will be provided with training and guidance to manage a remote
workforce and team events will be strongly encouraged. Employees will need to attend the
offices on a regular basis to maintain physical contact with their team, and a flexible
approach to this will be important, to overcome peaks in work, sickness absence and other
unforeseen pressures. Arrangements will be needed to ensure all staff have an appropriate
work environment and the right technology to do their job, to ensure we maintain the wellbeing of individuals and uphold our professional approach to work.
This flexible approach relies heavily on trust, and our policies will reflect this.

Home-based worker

Office-based worker

 Fixed ICT supplied at a
hot-desk
to
mobile
 Access
technology on demand
 Uses hot desks in team
zones
must
be
 Workstation
compliant (FBC-supplied  Personal locker space
chair on request)
 Access to breakout spaces
 Requirement to attend
for online meetings
offices
(team bonding,
etc),
regularly
(for  Access to fully enabled
meeting rooms for “Teams”
example twice a month)
meeting
 Performance based on
 Performance based on
outcomes
outcomes
 Can expect same contact
from managers as office-  Can expect work to be
shared fairly with homebased colleagues
based colleagues
 Home-worker IT supplied

Hybrid worker


Mobile ICT available for
use at home and work



Access to hot-desk
space in their team
zone in the office



Optional fixed screens
at home supplied



ICT docking space in
the longer term for
laptops



Personal locker space



Performance based on
outcomes

Other opportunities that we will explore
Our vision will offer our employees the opportunity to change their traditional working pattern
and benefit from an enhanced work-life balance. But the transition to a new way of working
also offers broader opportunities for other aspects of the Council’s day to day business, that
we will consider as new arrangements bed in.

Page 102

Information and Communications Technology
The ICT Strategy determines the Council’s approach to investment in new technology, along
with our approach to data storage, cyber security, networking and telephony. The Strategy
has been reviewed in light of the proposed new way of working and opportunities have been
identified to support this vision. This includes accelerating the transition to cloud-based
solutions, improved network resilience and enhanced cyber-security measures. These
changes will be incorporated into the ICT Strategy and delivered by the ICT team over the
next 2-3 years.
Telephony arrangements will need to be improved, so that a more seamless approach to call
handling can be achieved, irrespective of the location of our teams.
And as our existing equipment comes to the end of its useful life, we will move to mobile
solutions (such as laptops), so that we can fully benefit from flexible working arrangements.
We have also undertaken a review of the technology that Councillors need in carrying out
their roles, to ensure this is complementary to the operational arrangements for our teams.
Customer Access Channels and Opening Times
As we move to more flexible working arrangements and continue to expand our use of
technology, this may present opportunities to broaden the channels available for our
customers to contact the Council.
For example, this could include our use of social media channels to communicate with
customers, broadening customer access online and continuing the use of virtual media to
engage with residents on important matters.
As we embrace further technological developments, we would also review the Council’s
normal opening hours, to ensure that customers can access our services when they need
them, in a way that makes good use of the resources available.
Operational Buildings and Planned Maintenance Programme
The operational buildings (Civic Offices and Broadcut Depot) are significant corporate assets
and consequently require periodic investment to ensure they remain fit for purpose and fully
operational. There are clear benefits from retaining a central location for our office base, as it
provides easy access for our customers, it supports the town centre economy and is a focal
point for service delivery and civic/democratic activities.
The capital programme has c.£4m allocated for refurbishment works in the Civic Offices, the
majority of which relates to replacing the dated windows and air handling, heating and
cooling plant, which is approaching the end of its useful life. Having established that a
central location is important to our customers and our employees, work will proceed in
delivering the refurbishment works.
As we adopt a hybrid approach to working, there will be a lower demand for office floor space
as more people work from home. At the same time, our increased use of online meetings will
mean that we will need more “quiet spaces” for people to use and a greater availability of
spaces for regular team engagement.

Page 103

While it is important that we retain a sense of identity for every team space, our move to
shared desks within teams will open up opportunities to create the necessary quiet spaces
and meeting spaces that a hybrid approach will require.
A smaller floorspace requirement will also provide opportunities for other organisations to
relocate to the Civic Offices (although it is acknowledged that demand may be limited at this
time), or to explore consolidating all our office uses into the Civic Offices in the longer term.
Our approach to heating, cooling and air handling in the future may also present
opportunities to improve zonal controls. In turn this will allow us to isolate the unused areas
and reduce our energy consumption and our carbon footprint.
Democracy and Decision-Making
Embracing technology during the pandemic period extended to our democratic functions,
allowing members of the public to view and engage in committee meetings virtually, for the
first time.
While many people still choose to engage in person, these added options have broadened
the Councils openness and accessibility, and we will explore if this should continue in the
future.

Next Steps
As we move towards the hybrid approach to working, the project team will continue to
develop the necessary procedures to ensure that the transition is clear and seamless.
The vision has been developed, taking account of the feedback from our employees, and it is
important that we continue to engage not only with employees and union representatives, but
also take account of customer expectations as well.
Delivery of the new way of working needs to be an evolution, starting with the discussion with
our workforce on their preferred individual approach. This will inform our revised office
layouts and our understanding of our floor space requirement.

Summary
Our response to the COVID pandemic has shown that we can provide the same high level of
service in a variety of ways, while offering greater flexibility to our workforce to manage their
work/life balance. This vision embraces the lessons learned over that time, and with a
continued investment in technology and in our teams, we hope to attract and retain the best
talent to continue delivering services to Fareham residents.

Page 104

Agenda Item 10

Report to Policy and Resources
Scrutiny Panel
Date

06 October 2021

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS

SUMMARY
One of the key functions of this Scrutiny Panel is to hold the Executive Portfolio Holder and
Senior Officers to Account in the delivery of the Service and the Improvement Actions
identified in the Council’s Corporate Priorities and Corporate Vision.
Members are therefore invited to consider the items of business which fall under the remit of
the Policy and Resources portfolio and have been dealt with by the Executive since the last
meeting of the Panel. This includes any decision taken by Individual Executive Members.
The relevant notices for decisions taken are attached for consideration.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that Members consider the items of Business discharged by the Executive
and make any comments or raise any questions for clarification.

Page 105

Agenda Item 10(1)

FAREHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

2021/22
Decision No.
2287

Record of Decision by Executive
Monday, 5 July 2021
Portfolio

Policy & Resources

Subject:

Capital & Treasury Management Outturn 2020/21

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priority:

Dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report provides the Executive with details of the capital and treasury
management outturn for 2020/21 to comply with the reporting requirements of the
Code of Practice for Treasury Management. The report also seeks approval for the
proposed methods of financing the General Fund capital programme.
In February 2020 the Executive approved a capital programme totalling
£26,869,9000 for 2020/21. Due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the
economy the programme was reviewed as part of the emergency budget set in
September 2020 and reduced to £11,987,600. This was further reduced in February
2021 to £6,606,8000 as part of the Capital Strategy update for 2021/22 to reflect the
continued delay of significant projects as the pandemic continued.
Actual capital expenditure on General Fund schemes in 2020/21 was £5,499,557
(£16.5 million in 2019/20) compared with the revised capital programme of
£6,606,800. The overall variance was £1,107,243. A detailed analysis of the
variations is given in Appendix A to this report.
Total savings from individual projects of £66,120 were achieved, additional
expenditure of £90,086 was incurred and a total of £1,131,209 will be carried forward
into 2021/22. Details of the various methods used to finance this expenditure are set
out in this report.
Full details of Treasury Management investment and borrowing activity in 2020/21
are also set out in this report and is summarised below:

Total borrowing
Total investments
Net borrowing

31 March 2020
Actual
£’000
57,659
(16,300)
41,359
Page 107

2020/21
Movement
£’000
(1,692)
(2,325)
(4,017)

31 March 2021
Actual
£’000
55,967
(18,625)
37,342

Net interest received in 2020/21 was £661,684 (£603,316 in 2019/20) and net
interest paid was £1,684,440 (£1,676,656 in 2019/20).
During 2020/21, the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements
of the Prudential Code.
Options Considered:
The comments of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel were taken into account
in considering this item.
As recommendation.
Decision:
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) approves the General Fund capital programme for 2020/21 to be financed
as set out in this report;
(b) agrees that the additional expenditure incurred, amounting to £90,086 be
financed retrospectively from unallocated capital resources; and
(c) notes the treasury management activity for 2020/21.
Reason:
To provide the Executive with details of the capital and treasury management outturn
in 2020/21 and to comply with the reporting requirements of the Code of Practice for
Treasury Management.
Confirmed as a true record:
Councillor SDT Woodward (Executive Leader)

Monday, 5 July 2021

Page 108

Agenda Item 10(2)

FAREHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

2021/22
Decision No.
2286

Record of Decision by Executive
Monday, 5 July 2021
Portfolio

Policy & Resources

Subject:

Complaints Policy and Unreasonable Complaint
Behaviour Policy Updates

Report of:

Director of Leisure and Community

Corporate Priority:

Dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report provides details of a proposed updating of the Complaints Policy and the
Unreasonable Complaint Behaviour Policy.
The Council receives a large number of customer enquiries, with most being dealt
with quickly and effectively with a positive outcome for the customer. Occasionally, a
customer may be dissatisfied with our response or the outcome to their enquiry, at
which point they can escalate their complaint using the Council’s corporate
complaints procedure.
The Council’s complaints procedure explains how customer can make a complaint
and the procedure that will be followed. At stage one of the complaint procedure, the
Head of Service responsible for the department will investigate the complaint. If the
customer is unhappy with the response, the complaint can be escalated to stage two
of the process, where the Director of the department responsible for the service will
review the complaint.
A redrafted Complaints Policy has been produced for approval which has been
updated to increase the clarity around the role of the Director at stage two. The
Director’s role is to review the procedures and processes which were followed at
stage one and confirm that they comply with the policy, not to carry out another
complaint investigation as the Head of Service would have sone at Stage one.
The redrafted Complaint’s Policy also sets out the steps which need to be taken
should an Elected Member receive a formal complaint.
If the customer remains unhappy with the stage two response, they can ask the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) for an independent
review.
Whilst the Council is committed to dealing with all complaints fairly, on occasion, our
Page 109

employees may have to deal with unreasonable, persistent or vexatious behaviour
form our customers.
The LGSCO provides guidance notes to help Local Authorities and other bodies
within their jurisdiction to develop a proportionate approach when responding to
unreasonable complaint behaviour, based on their view of good practice in dealing
with these customers.
As well as taking up a lot of officer time, on occasion, the behaviour of the customer
may be rude, derogatory, sarcastic or threatening.
The Unreasonable Complaint Behaviour Policy was introduced approximately 2
years ago. The underlying aim of this policy was to ensure resources are used fairly,
and to protect officers.
When the effectiveness of the current policy was reviewed, it was identified that it
may not always be able to achieve its aims.
A re-drafted policy has been produced for approval. The main changes allow the
Director of the service area to review existing limitations applied under this policy, if it
is deemed that they are effectively minimising the impact on officer time and
resources.
It also introduces the ability to terminate contact and end the
investigation if the customer fails to adhere to the limitations within it. Additionally,
the proposed changes allow the Director to reduce the imposed limitations if they are
subsequently believed to be too harsh. This flexibility will help protect the council,
whilst also ensuring proportionate action is taken.
Options Considered:
At the invitation of the Executive leader, Councillor R H Price, JP addressed the
Executive on this item.
During the discussion on this item it was noted at paragraph 20 of the report that, in
addition to the Housing Ombudsman providing a free service, the Local Government
& Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) also provides a free service.
It was agreed during the discussion of this item that:
(i) at paragraph 10 of the Complaints Policy, as detailed at Appendix A to the
report, the contact details for the Housing Ombudsman be added alongside
the contact details for the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman;
(ii) bullet point 6 of paragraph 15 of the Unreasonable Complaints Policy, as
detailed at Appendix B to the report, be amended to allow more than one
witness to be present when personal contact takes place in dealing with
unreasonable complaint behaviour;
(iii) paragraph 3 of the Unreasonable Complaints Policy, as detailed at Appendix
B to the report, be amended to reflect that in the event of a complaint being
escalated to Stage 2, the Director of the department will review the complaint
process, not the complaint; and
(iv) a further report be brought for consideration regarding safeguarding for
Members when they are subject to persistent, vexatious or abusive people.
Page 110

As recommendation.
Decision:
RESOLVED that, subject to (i) to (iv) above, the Executive adopts:
(a) the updated Complaints Policy as set out in Appendix A to this report; and
(b) the updated Unreasonable Complaint Behaviour Policy, as set out in
Appendix B to this report.
Reason:
The Council identified that the role of the Director was not clear in the existing
Complaints Policy.
The Council identified that the existing Unreasonable Complaints Behaviour policy
may not always prevent the impact of repeated complaints, even if the customer
adhered to the imposed restrictions.
The adoption of these policies will help deal with complaints of this nature, protect
the wellbeing of the Council’s employees, ensure resources are directed where they
are needed and reduce the risk of disproportionate restrictions being imposed upon
customers.
Confirmed as a true record:
Councillor SDT Woodward (Executive Leader)

Monday, 5 July 2021

Page 111

Agenda Item 10(3)

FAREHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

2021/22
Decision No.
2288

Record of Decision by Executive
Monday, 5 July 2021
Portfolio

Policy & Resources

Subject:

General Fund & Housing Revenue Account Outturn
2020/21

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priority:

Dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report provides the Executive with details of the actual revenue expenditure for
2020/21 for the General Fund and Housing Revenue and Repairs Account and
seeks approval for the completion, in 2021/22, of two of the 2020/21 expenditure
programmes.
The General Fund actual net revenue expenditure on services for 2020/21 totals
£12,182,435 which is £2,575,935 more than was originally budgeted for the year.
This is due to the extraordinary impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on income
streams and costs incurred year.
These were recognised early on in the year and the Council adopted a replacement
emergency budget in September. This forecast the potential need to use £1.1 million
of the Council’s reserves to plug the funding gap for its services in 2020/21. At the
same time the Council introduced a Financial Recovery Plan to mitigate the impacts
arising where it could, which included a tightened control over expenditure.
Financial forecasts were updated as the government implemented further periods of
lockdown and announced support packages for local authority services. The Council
has benefitted from Government COVID grants totalling £3.8 million during the year;
£0.8 million of these were not anticipated and therefore not incorporated into the
emergency and revised budgets.
The final net budget outturn position is £1,211,254 less than the final revised budget
agreed by the Executive in February 2021. This has meant that the anticipated
drawing from reserves has not materialised. This is partly due to some services,
such as planning application income, starting to recover towards the end of the year,
and also due to the corporate efforts in reducing spend where it was possible. There
has also been additional council tax income of £35,739. However, the largest
contributing factor has been the unplanned additional Government support.
Page 113

It has not been possible to complete a number of expenditure programmes in
2020/21 and approval is sought to complete two programmes where expenditure had
already been committed during 2020/21, at a cost of £51,900. This will reduce the
underspend to £1,195,093.
This underspend will need to be transferred to reserves to help protect the council’s
financial position going forward. Some trends in increased expenditure and reduced
income have continued into 2021/22 and income streams such as car parking may
never recover, whilst the Government’s financial support schemes may start to
disappear. The Council’s underlying financial position has therefore worsened. We
will be reviewing this in more detail when the Medium-Term Finance Strategy is
completed later in 2021 along with a plan to address the forecasted funding gaps.
The final figures for the Housing Revenue and Repairs Account (HRA) in 2020/21
show that the HRA revenue reserve has been reduced by £218,844 to fund the net
expenditure for the year. Overall, total HRA Reserves have decreased by £746,834.

Options Considered:
The comments of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Panel were taken into account
in considering this item.
As recommendation.
Decision:
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a)

approves the carry forward of £51,900 to fund the completion of the
committed General Fund expenditure programmes in 2021/22, as contained
in this report;

(b)

approves the carry forward of £470,000 for the HRA Capital Programme to
re-align budget and expenditure phasing and to support the forthcoming
programme for 2021/22; and

(c)

notes the contents of the report.

Reason:
To enable the completion of the General Fund expenditure programme for 2020/21
and to ensure that the balances on the Housing Revenue and Repairs Accounts at
31 March 2021 will be available in future years and that 2021/22 budgets are
sufficient to meet the level of work programmed.
Confirmed as a true record:
Councillor SDT Woodward (Executive Leader)

Monday, 5 July 2021

Page 114

Agenda Item 10(4)

FAREHAM
BOROUGH COUNCIL
2021/22
Decision No.
2292

Record of Decision by Executive
Monday, 9 August 2021
Portfolio

Policy & Resources

Subject:

Welborne Garden Village Housing Infrastructure Grant

Report of:

Director of Planning and Regeneration

Corporate Priority:

Providing housing choices; Strong, safe, inclusive and
healthy communities

Purpose:
To delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regeneration to enter into a
memorandum of understanding between the Council and Homes England in order to
help secure £42m Housing Investment Grant (HIG) funding for the M27 Junction 10
Improvement Scheme and unlock 6,000 homes at Welborne Garden Village.
Housing Investment Grant (HIG) funding of £42m is being provided to Hampshire
County Council (HCC) to enable the delivery of the M27 Junction 10 Improvement
Scheme to unlock 6,000 homes at Welborne Garden Village.
Hampshire County Council has agreed to delegate authority to its Director of
Economy, Transport and Environment to complete the funding agreements
associated with this grant, including a Grant Determination agreement (GDA) with
Homes England for the HIG funding.
A simultaneous Memorandum, of Understanding between Homes England and this
Council is also required to secure the HIG funding. This sets out the obligations on
the Council in relation to the monitoring of various s106 requirements on the
Developer of Welborne Garden Village; the monitoring of housing outputs unlocked
by the HIG-funded infrastructure works; and the recovery and reinvestment into
affordable housing of the HIG funds.
This report sets out those obligations and seeks Executive approval to enter into a
Memorandum of Understanding with Homes England to help secure the £42m grant
to HCC.
On 23 July 2021, the Planning Committee agreed to delegate to the Head of
Development Management the ability to secure a mechanism to recover and recycle
HIG Funding in accordance with Homes England’s requirements in a legal
agreement pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 115

Options Considered:
As recommendation.

Decision:
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) approves the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding with Homes
England to help secure the £42m Housing Investment Grant for Welborne
Garden Village as attached at the Confidential Appendix A to this report;
(b) delegates authority to complete the Memorandum of Understanding to the
Director of Planning and Regeneration, following consultation with the
Council’s s151 Officer and the Executive Leader of the Council; and
(c) requests that the Head of Development Management incorporates these

provisions in the legal agreement for Welborne pursuant to Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Reason:
To comply with certain requirements of the Council relating to the Housing
Investment Grant (IHG) funding and to help secure the £42m HIG contribution to the
M27 Junction 10 Improvement Scheme.

Confirmed as a true record:
Councillor SDT Woodward (Executive Leader)

Monday, 9 August 2021

Page 116

